
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Wednesday, 14 June 2023 

 

Notice of meeting  
 

County Council 
 

Thursday, 22nd June, 2023 at 2.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA 

 

AGENDA 
 

Prayers will be said prior to the Council meeting at 1.45pm. All members are welcome to join the 
Chair for prayers should they wish to do. 

 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of interest 

 
 

3.   Public Questions 

 
 

4.   Chair's Announcement 

 
1 - 2 

5.   To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18th May 2023 

 
3 - 8 

6.   GWENT PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD: WELL-BEING PLAN 

 
9 - 38 

7.   CHIEF OFFICER CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ANNUAL REPORT 

 
39 - 118 

8.   Motions to Council 

 
 

8.1.   Submitted by County Councillor Richard John 
 
This Council: 

 Notes that tourists contribute nearly £200million to Monmouthshire’s 
economy and sustain over 3,000 jobs in the tourism industry. 

 Notes the commitment of the Welsh Government to give local authorities 
the powers to impose a tourism tax by 2026. 

 Recognises the damage a tourism tax would inflict on our tourism industry 
and rules out the introduction of a tourism tax in Monmouthshire. 

 

 

9.   Members Questions  

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
9.1.   From County Councillor Richard John to County Councillor Mary Ann 

Brocklesby, Leader of the Council 
 
Would the Leader make a statement about the relationship the administration 
has with the Welsh Government? 
 

 

9.2.   From County Councillor Penny Jones to County Councillor Rachel 
Garrick, Cabinet Member for Resources 
 
Can the Cabinet Member please explain the administration’s plans for the 
future of the old Primary School site in Raglan and the timeline involved? 
 

 

10.   Date of next meeting - 20th July 2023 

 
 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive / Prif Weithredwr 

 
 

 



 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

County Councillor Rachel Buckler Devauden; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Laura Wright Grofield; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Tony Kear Llanbadoc & Usk; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Catrin Maby Drybridge; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Jan Butler Goetre Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Ian Chandler Llantilio Crossenny; Green Party 

County Councillor Sara Burch Cantref; 
Labour and Co-Operative 
Party 

County Councillor Alistair Neill Gobion Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Su McConnel Croesonen; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Mary Ann Brocklesby Llanelly Hill; 
Labour and Co-Operative 
Party 

County Councillor Fay Bromfield Llangybi Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Jane Lucas Osbaston; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Emma Bryn Wyesham; Independent Group 
County Councillor Peter Strong Rogiet; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Meirion Howells Llanbadoc & Usk; Independent 

County Councillor Paul Griffiths 
Chepstow Castle & 
Larkfield; 

Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Jackie Strong Caldicot Cross; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Rachel Catherine Garrick Caldicot Castle; 
Labour and Co-Operative 
Party 

County Councillor Maria  Stevens Severn; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Steven Garratt Overmonnow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Angela Sandles Magor East with Undy; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Ben Callard Llanfoist & Govilon; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor John Crook Magor East with Undy; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Tomos Dafydd Davies Llanfoist & Govilon; Welsh Conservative Party 

County Councillor Dale Rooke 
Chepstow Castle & 
Larkfield; 

Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Catherine Fookes Town; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Sue Riley Bulwark and Thornwell; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Jayne McKenna 
Mitchel Troy and Trellech 
United; 

Welsh Conservative Party 

County Councillor Jill Bond West End; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Louise Brown Shirenewton; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Lisa Dymock Portskewett; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Tony Easson Dewstow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Christopher Edwards St. Kingsmark; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Martyn Groucutt Lansdown; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Simon Howarth Llanelly Hill; Independent Group 

County Councillor Richard John 
Mitchel Troy and Trellech 
United; 

Welsh Conservative Party 

County Councillor David Jones Crucorney; Independent Group 
County Councillor Penny Jones Raglan; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Malcolm Lane Mardy; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Phil Murphy Caerwent; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Paul Pavia Mount Pleasant; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Maureen Powell Pen Y Fal; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Frances Taylor Magor West; Independent Group 
County Councillor Tudor Thomas Park; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 



 

 

County Councillor Armand Watts Bulwark and Thornwell; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Ann Webb St Arvans; Welsh Conservative Party 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public attending a 
meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please note that we must 
receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
 
Mae'r Cyngor yn croesawu cyfraniadau gan aelodau'r cyhoedd trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg neu’r Saesneg. 
Gofynnwn yn barchus i chi roi rhybudd digonol i ni er mwyn darparu ar gyfer eich anghenion 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or English.  
We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 

 



 

 

 



 

Chair’s Report 

4th June – 19th June 

 
DATE ENGAGEMENT/ 

VENUE 

Sunday 4th June 
3 p.m. 

Mayor’s Civic Service 
The Priory Church of St Mary’s, USK 

Tuesday 6th June 
 

Citizen Ceremony 

Tuesday 6th June 
7 p.m. 

Bridges Monmouth Area Volunteer Awards 
The Ballroom, Bridges Centre. Monmouth 

Wednesday 7th June 
10 a.m. 

MonLife Playmaker Conference 
Monmouth Leisure Centre 

Sunday 11th June 
4 p.m. 

Newport Civic Sunday 
Newport Cathedral, Stow Hill, Newport 

Monday 19th June 
10 a.m. 

Fly a Flag for our Armed Forces Event 
County Hall, Usk 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
 on Thursday, 18th May, 2023 at 2.00 pm 

 
 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillor Meirion Howells (Chair) 
County Councillor Su McConnel (Vice Chair) 
 

 County Councillors: Rachel Buckler, Laura Wright, Tony Kear, 
Catrin Maby, Jan Butler, Ian Chandler, Sara Burch, Alistair Neill, 
Mary Ann Brocklesby, Fay Bromfield, Jane Lucas, Emma Bryn, 
Peter Strong, Paul Griffiths, Jackie Strong, Rachel Garrick, 
Maria Stevens, Steven Garratt, Angela Sandles, Ben Callard, 
John Crook, Tomos Davies, Catherine Fookes, Sue Riley, 
Jayne McKenna, Jill Bond, Louise Brown, Lisa Dymock, 
Tony Easson, Christopher Edwards, Martyn Groucutt, 
Simon Howarth, Richard John, David Jones, Penny Jones, 
Malcolm Lane, Phil Murphy, Paul Pavia, Maureen Powell, 
Frances Taylor, Tudor Thomas, Ann Webb and Armand Watts 
 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Matt Phillips Chief Officer People and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer 
Paul Matthews Chief Executive 
Peter Davies Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Officer, Resources 
Jane Rodgers Chief Officer for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health 
Nicola Perry Senior Democracy Officer 
Frances O'Brien Chief Officer, Communities and Place 
Matthew Gatehouse Head of Policy, Performance and Scrutiny 
Ian Saunders Chief Operating Officer, MonLife 
Diane Corrister Head of Children's Services 
Charlotte Drury Service Manager - Well-being and Family Support 

 

APOLOGIES: 
 

County Councillors Dale Rooke 
 
1. Apologies for absence  

 
None. 
 
2. Declarations of interest  

 
None. 
 
3. To elect a Chair of Council for the Civic Year 2023/24  

 
The Chair of Council, County Councillor Laura Wright opened the meeting and took the 
opportunity to thank Council for the opportunity of representing the Council and highlighted 
several functions attended which included reading the King’s Proclamation and the Royal 
Garden Party. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
 on Thursday, 18th May, 2023 at 2.00 pm 

 
The Leader addressed Council and thanked County Councillor Wright for her year in office as 
Chair and reflected on the work and achievements of the past year.  Group Leaders echoed the 
sentiments of the Leader. 
 
It was proposed by County Councillor Ian Chandler, and seconded by County Councillor Mary 
Ann Brocklesby, that County Councillor Meirion Howells be elected as Chair of Monmouthshire 
County Council for the Civic Year 2023/24. Upon being put to the vote it was agreed to elect 
County Councillor Meirion Howells as Chair. 
 
County Councillor Meirion Howells made and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office 
and thanked Members for their support.  He thanked Council for the opportunity and introduced 
his wife Sarah, and on occasion, his mother Mrs Iris Howells as his consorts for the year in 
office. 
 
4. To appoint a Vice-Chair of Council for the Civic Year 2023/24  

 
The Chair welcomed nominations for Vice-Chair of Council. 
 
It was proposed by County Councillor Mary Ann Brocklesby and seconded by County Councillor 
Ian Chandler that County Councillor Su McConnel be appointed as Vice Chair of the County 
Council for the Civic Year 2023/24. 
 
Upon being put to the vote it was resolved that County Councillor Su McConnel be appointed as 
Vice Chair. County Councillor McConnel made and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of 
Office.  She thanked Council for their support and introduced Roger Harris as her consort for the 
year. 
 
 
 
5. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 20th April 2023  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20th April 2023 were approved as an accurate record. 
 
6. To elect a Leader of the County Council and to receive notification of Leader 

delegations (appointments to Cabinet)  
 
County Councillor Angela Sandles nominated County Councillor Mary Ann Brocklesby as 
Leader of the Council for the year 2023/24. This was seconded by County Councillor Sara 
Burch.  
 
There were no further nominations and upon being put to a vote County Councillor Mary Ann 
Brocklesby was appointed Leader. 
 
Councillor Brocklesby took the opportunity to highlight achievements and announced that the 
Welsh Labour Party had agreed a coalition arrangement with the Green Party. 
 
The Leader expressed thanks to County Councillors Tudor Thomas and Catherine Fookes for 
their work during the past year. 
 
Cabinet Appointments were announced as: 
 

 County Councillor Paul Griffiths - Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Sustainable Livelihoods.  

 County Councillor Rachel Garrick – Cabinet Member for Resources. County 

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
 on Thursday, 18th May, 2023 at 2.00 pm 

 

 Councillor Martyn Groucutt – Cabinet Member for Education.  

 County Councillor Ian Chandler – Cabinet Member for Social Care, Safeguarding and 
Accessible Health Services.  

 County Councillor Sara Burch – Cabinet Member for Inclusive and Active Communities.  

 County Councillor Catrin Maby – Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Environment.  

 County Councillor Angela Sandles – Cabinet Member for Equalities and Engagement. 
 
 
 
 
7. Representation of Political Groups  

 
The Cabinet Member for Equalities and Engagement presented the report for Council to review 
the representation of different political groups on the bodies to which the Council makes 
appointments. The Council now comprises 4 groups with the creation of the Green Independent 
Group and the concurrent change in membership of the Independent Group from 6 to 4 
Members. 
 
Upon being put to a vote Council resolved to accept the recommendation: 
 
That the Council decides to accept the report (and appendices) as a review under Section 
15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and to initially allocate ordinary 
committees with the numbers as indicated below as a fair representation: 
 

 
 
8. Appointments to Committees  

 
The Cabinet Member for Equalities and Engagement presented the report in order for Council to 
appoint committees together with their membership and terms of reference in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution. 
 
Upon being put to a vote Council resolved to accept the recommendation: 
 
That committees be appointed together with their membership as set out in the report, 
and their terms of reference attached as appendices. 
 
Upon being put to a vote County Councillor Ann Webb was elected as Chair of 
Democratic Services Committee. 
 

Page 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
 on Thursday, 18th May, 2023 at 2.00 pm 

 
 
9. Appointments to Outside Bodies  

 
The Cabinet Member for Equalities and Engagement presented the report in order for Council to 
appoint representatives to serve on outside bodies. 
 
Upon being put to a vote Council resolved to accept the recommendation: 
 
The Council notes the appointments made at its 2023 AGM for the term of Council and 
confirms or amends the appointments that require annual renewal. 
 
10. Constitution Review  

 
The Cabinet Member for Equalities and Engagement presented the report for Council consider 
to the updated MCC Constitution. 
 
Concerns were raised that there had been no officer feedback regarding scrutiny issues raised 
at the Democratic Services Committee.  The concern related to SACRE (Standing Advisory 
Council for Religious Education) and SAC (Standing Advisory Council) being covered by one 
committee known as SACRE/SAC. The recent meeting of SACRE had been inquorate and, 
therefore, there had been no consultation with the current committee regarding changing the 
title and the current constitution suggests the committee be known as SAC. 
 
There was concern around the use of the term gender in that female members could not 
complain about sex discrimination from male members as a breach of the Code of Conduct, or 
vice versa.  This had been raised at the Democratic Services Committee, but no feedback had 
been received. 
 
Suggestion was made that the item be deferred until the matters raised had been addressed. 
 
The Chair of SACRE/SAC explained that the matters relating to the arrangements of SAC is the 
responsibility of the County Council and it was therefore proper for Council to make the 
decision.   
 
The Monitoring Officer recognised that the SACRE meeting had been inquorate, but a 
subsequent email correspondence had received no responses. He was satisfied that the 
changes in the Constitution reflected legislation correctly. 
 
Upon being put to a vote Council resolved to accept the recommendation: 
  
Council approve the reviewed and updated Constitution. 
 
 
11. Corporate Parenting Strategy  2022-25  

 
The Leader presented the report in relation to responsibilities of the Council regarding the 
performance against the previous Corporate Parenting strategy 2017-2022 and the Action Plan 
which will address the needs of Children Looked After and Care Experienced young people. 
 
County Councillor Penny Jones endorsed the policy and thanked County Councillor Tudor 
Thomas for his contribution as Vice Chair of Corporate Parenting Panel, recognising his key role 
in supporting young people with care and compassion. 
 

Page 6



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
 on Thursday, 18th May, 2023 at 2.00 pm 

 
A comment was made regarding the overall wellbeing and health equalities and officers were 
asked if there had been consultation with the health board.  Officers agreed to respond in 
writing. 
 
County Councillor Paul Pavia declared a non-prejudicial interest as an Associate Consultant 
with Practice Solutions and asked a question regarding the effect of Foster Carers Fortnight, 
and progress in terms of ‘sign up’.  Officers explained that there is an ongoing recruitment 
campaign, and following a successful campaign prior to Christmas, there were 6 ongoing 
assessments.  The turnover of fosterers was not particularly concerning, and there is a stable 
population of foster carers, who tend to be very loyal.  There is an older profile but the average 
age of people coming into foster caring is 45 to 55. 
 
The fostering strategy focuses on skills and strengths and how best to support foster carers. 
 
Officers explained that members of the health board sit on the Corporate Parenting Panel, and 
health are key players in all work devising the strategy, and partnership work. 
 
Upon being put to a vote Council resolved to accept the recommendation: 
 
That members consider and endorse the Corporate Parenting Strategy and the Action 
Plan for 2022-2025. 
 
12. Members Questions:  

 
13. From County Councillor Paul Pavia to the Cabinet Member responsible for street 

care and public spaces  
 
Will the Cabinet Member responsible for street care and public spaces make a statement on 
what the Council is doing to improve the character of the county’s urban spaces? 
 
County Councillor Paul Griffiths, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Sustainable Livelihoods explained that the contributions we are making to the quality of our 
towns include  
 

 The progress we are making on our local development plan, which will create the growth 
in jobs and people necessary to sustain our towns.  

 The progress on our local transport plan which will allow the required movement of 
people in and out of our towns. 

 Our contributions must include the further development of our relationships with town 
councils, who are pivotal in taking our towns forward. 

 The progress we are making with the place making plans which is a joint exercise with 
each of our town councils. 

 
Councillor Griffiths highlighted that the partnerships with town councils has led to the 
establishment of town teams, which are taking responsibility for our street care, and referred to 
the support we must provide to businesses and community organisations who work to create 
the reasons for us to be in towns.  
 
County Councillor Lisa Dymock left the meeting at 16:38 

 
As a supplementary Councillor Pavia stated that a number of local residents have been raised 
the issue of the proliferation of street and road signs and asked what steps are being taken to 
monitor the number of signs being installed and what effect they are having on streetscape, and 
how are Council looking to streamline signage to reduce public confusion. 

Page 7



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
 on Thursday, 18th May, 2023 at 2.00 pm 

 
 
County Councillor Catrin Maby, Cabinet Member for Climate Change and the Environment 
explained that in relation to the new speed limits there is a specific requirement around repeater 
signs, but this will change with the full rollout.  There is a register of illuminated signs, but not for 
non-illuminated signs.  Councillor Maby appreciated the concerns and thought collaboration with 
town councils would be useful.   
 
 
 
14. Date of next meeting - 22nd June 2023  

 
Noted. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.40 pm  
 

 

Page 8



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To ensure that members understand the challenges facing Gwent and the steps being 

taken collaboratively by public services in the region to address these and to approve the 

Gwent Public Service Board’s Well-being Plan ahead of publication. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That Council approve the Well-being Plan ahead of approval by the Gwent Public Services 

Board. 

 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 The Well-being of Future Generations Act places a duty on public bodies to think more 

about the long-term, work better with people and communities and each other, look to 

prevent problems and take a more joined-up approach.   

3.2 The Act also created Public Service Boards. These are collaborations of public and 

voluntary sector services in our area.  Between 2016 and 2021 Monmouthshire had its 

own PSB, as did the other local authority areas in Gwent.  This meant that partners like 

The Police, Aneurin Bevan University Health Board and the Gwent Association of 

Voluntary Organisations, were attending five meetings, often discussing similar topics.  

The formation of a Gwent PSB enabled us to discharge our legal responsibilities, avoid 

duplication and work collaboratively and at scale on the biggest challenges facing 

communities.  

3.3 Each Board must prepare and publish a well-being plan setting out its objectives and the 

steps it proposes to take to meet them.  This needs to be published one year after the last 

county council election. 

3.4 It contains two well-being objectives which are described in more detail on pages 12 and 

13 of the plan: 

 We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all, and 

 We want a climate-ready Gwent, where our environment is valued and protected, 

benefitting our well-being now and for future generations.  

3.5 These are clearly aligned with the commitments and aspirations in the Council’s 

Community and Corporate Plan. Working in collaboration with other public service 

SUBJECT:  GWENT PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD: WELL-BEING PLAN 

MEETING:  Council 

DATE:  22nd June 2023 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



providers will enable us to work at scale to tackle the issues that matter most.  The Gwent 

objectives are underpinned by five specific steps: 

 Take action to reduce the cost-of-living crisis in the longer term. 

 Provide and enable the supply of good quality, affordable, appropriate homes. 

 Take action to reduce our carbon emissions, help Gwent adapt to climate change, 

and protect and restore our natural environment. 

 Take action to address inequities, particularly in relation to health, through the 

framework of the Marmot Principles. 

 Enable and support people, neighbourhoods, and communities to be resilient, 

connected, thriving and safe. 

3.6 Of equal significance to the objectives, is the commitment from the PSB to become a 

Marmot Region.  This means that we will work with the Institute of Health Equity, led by 

Professor Sir Michael Marmot to undertake evidence-based action to reduce inequalities in 

Gwent. 

3.7 The draft well-being plan has been subject to scrutiny at Monmouthshire’s Public Services 

Scrutiny Committee as well as a Gwent joint regional committee which includes two 

Monmouthshire councillors.  Amongst other issues, the committee had concerns that the 

plan was too generic and that it lacked the necessary measures that would enable to PSB 

to be held to account for delivery.   

3.8 An officer workshop was subsequently held to review the committee’s findings and agree a 

way forward. The points have been accepted and all partners recognise that more work 

needs to be done.  This work is in progress and should be concluded in this calendar year. 

We would expect the work to identify specific projects that the partners will deliver in 

collaboration as well agreeing local activity which make the plan more bespoke to our 

area. 

3.9 We have a local delivery group, The Monmouthshire Programme Board, chaired by a 

senior officer that links directly to the Gwent PSB to ensure that local issues remain at the 

forefront of partnership delivery. There is a good alignment between the priorities of the 

PSB document and our own Community and Corporate Plan. 

3.10 A draft performance framework has been produced and presented to the joint scrutiny 

committee earlier this month. The work was received positively, and the framework will 

continue to evolve alongside the development of actions in the more detailed delivery 

plans. 

3.11 We recognise that more work needs to be done to ensure that activity is specific, 

measurable, and most importantly, impactful.  Officers are confident that this is in progress 

and the four other councils in Gwent have already approved the document ahead of a final 

decision by the Gwent PSB. Delaying its endorsement would create a number of logistical 

problems. The preferred approach is to continue to develop this work once the plan has 

been approved. 

 

4. EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

4.1 The plan will have a positive impact on groups with protected characteristics as well as the 

seven national well-being goals identified in the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  It 

has been agreed by regional partners that a full impact assessment will be completed 

Page 10

https://democracy.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/documents/s14021/Gwent%20PSB_%20DRAFT%20Performance%20Management%20Framework%20_v0.1%20May%2023_APPENDIX%201_Submitted.pdf?LLL=0


alongside the development of the more detailed delivery plans that flow from the Well-

being Plan. 

 

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

5.1 Each of the steps in the well-being plan have been developed by partners.  At this stage 

the steps identified remain broad and the precisely how they are to be achieved is still 

being discussed. Each new proposal brought forward to deliver against these objectives 

that has implications for the council will be subject to an individual decision in accordance 

with the constitution. 

 

6. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 

6.1 The Plan contains two well-being objectives that will be measured over time.  These are:  

 We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all, and 

 We want a climate-ready Gwent, where our environment is valued and protected, 
benefitting our well-being now and for future generations. 

 
6.2 A draft performance measurement framework has been developed and is available here.  

This is focused largely on population level measures and will continue to evolve as 
detailed delivery plans are developed. There are also 46 national well-being measures that 
will be used to assess progress over time.   
 

6.3 The actions will be monitored by the Monmouthshire Programme Board. They will also be 
examined by the Gwent PSB regional scrutiny which has two councillors from each of the 
five local authority members.  Headline quantitative measures and progress updates will 
be reported to the committee. A full evaluation of progress will be produced annually to 
ensure that the PSB can be held to account for progress. 

 

 
7. REASONS: 

 

7.1 To set clear objectives that public services in will collaborate on to achieve economic, 

social, environmental and cultural well-being across Gwent. 

 

7.2 To ensure that the plan is approved by the statutory members of the PSB, prior to 

publication, in-line with the Statutory Guidance underpinning the Well-being of Future 

Generations Act. 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

8.1 The objectives within the well-being plan are the collective responsibility of the members of 
the Gwent PSB.  Monmouthshire County Council has agreed its own well-being objectives, 
and these are embedded within the Community and Corporate Plan that was approved in 
April.  At this stage, the PSB’s plan outlines some broad steps that will be worked up into 
more detailed actions.  Those that have a resource implication for the local authority over 
and above that already agreed by members will be subject to decisions in accordance with 
this council’s constitution at a future date.  

 

 

9. CONSULTEES: 

Page 11

https://democracy.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/documents/s14021/Gwent%20PSB_%20DRAFT%20Performance%20Management%20Framework%20_v0.1%20May%2023_APPENDIX%201_Submitted.pdf?LLL=0


 

Regional Public Services Bord Scrutiny Committee 

Gwent Public Services Board 

Cabinet  

Strategic Leadership Team 

 

The plan was endorsed by the regional scrutiny committee on 29th March.  Some concerns 

were raised by the committee as references in paragraph 3.7 above. This led to 

agreement to undertake additional work which is referenced in the body of this report. 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Gwent Well-being Assessment - https://www.gwentpsb.org/en/well-being-plan/well-being-

assessment/  

 

11. AUTHOR: 

 

Matthew Gatehouse, Head of Policy Performance and Scrutiny 

 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

 Tel: 01633 644397 

 E-mail: matthewgatehouse@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 12

https://www.gwentpsb.org/en/well-being-plan/well-being-assessment/
https://www.gwentpsb.org/en/well-being-plan/well-being-assessment/


 

1 

 

 

 

 

Well-being Plan for Gwent 

16/02/2023 

 

 

 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Public Services Board Membership ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

How our plan was developed ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Timeline ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Seven Well-being Goals ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

The Marmot Principles – Building a Fairer Gwent........................................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Overarching principles ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Effectively working together ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Communication and Engagement .................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Welsh language and culture ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Performance management .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 11 

Our Well-being Objectives ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 12 

We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all. .......................................................................................................................................... 12 

Steps ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Take action to reduce the cost of living crisis in the longer term ............................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Provide and enable the supply of good quality, affordable, appropriate homes ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

Taking action to reduce our carbon emissions, help Gwent adapt to climate change, and protect and restore our natural environment ..................................... 16 

  

P
age 13



 

2 

 

Take action to address inequities, particularly in relation to health, through the framework of the Marmot Principles ..................................................................... 17 

Enable and support people, neighbourhoods, and communities to be resilient, connected, thriving and safe .................................................................................. 18 

What happens next?........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

How the Marmot Principles link to the steps ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Connections with other Partnerships and Plans ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 21 

Local Delivery Groups ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Regional Partnership Board (RPB)................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Building a Fairer Gwent – a Marmot Region ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Safer Gwent - Community Safety Partnership .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Cardiff Capital Region ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Strategic Corporate Plans ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Area Statements ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Greater Gwent Nature Recovery Action Plan (GGNRAP) .......................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Third Sector Partnership Agreement .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Participatory budgeting ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Appendices ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

 

 

  

P
age 14



 

3 

 

Introduction  
Welcome to the first Well-being Plan for Gwent, setting out how we are working together to respond to some of the key issues identified in our 

most recent Well-being Assessment. As part of planning for the next 25 years, and beyond, this five year plan sets out what we will be doing to 

improve well-being across the region, now and for future generations. Many of the issues we know that affect the well-being of a region will take 

more than a few months or even years to solve, so the plan has tried to look for longer term solutions which may take a bit longer to show 

results. There will, of course, be things we can do in the short term, but those will need to help deliver benefits in the years to come.  

 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act established Public Services Boards, more commonly known as PSBs, for each local authority 

area to work together to improve well-being in their area. PSBs are made up of senior leaders from the Local Authority, the Health Board, the 

Fire and Rescue Service and Natural Resources Wales. A number of other organisations are also invited to join the PSB, such as the Police 

Service, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the voluntary sector.  

 

In September 2021 the five PSBs in Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Newport, Monmouthshire, and Torfaen came together to form the Gwent PSB, 

working across the region, and locally. This decision was made to simplify and strengthen the existing partnership arrangements by bringing all 

the public services together. The move to a regional PSB, with collective responsibility for improving well-being, makes it easier for partners to 

actively get involved, to add value and avoid doing the same thing several times. 

 

The Well-being Assessment for Gwent, published last year, showed that inequality and deprivation in our communities and the need to take 

action on the climate and nature emergencies were having an impact on well-being. This Well-being Plan outlines how we, the PSB, will work 

together to tackle the social, economic, environmental and cultural issues which can affect well-being in Gwent.  

P
age 15



 

4 

 

 

Public Services Board Membership  

 

    

  

P
age 16



 

5 

 

How our plan was developed  
 

We used the new Well-being Assessment to identify the issues which had the most effect on well-being, and where we could achieve more by 

working together than working alone and making better use of the resources we have. This is often known as ‘added value’. We identified these 

issues:  

 Health inequalities and well-being (including housing)  

 Community cohesion (including community safety and substance misuse) 

 Environment (including climate and nature emergencies) 

 

Over the summer of 2022 more work was done to get a better understanding of these issues and how they affected our communities. This 

involved pulling on a wide range of knowledge and experience, including from the Future Generations Commissioner’s office, learning from 

others and examples of good practice from across Wales and beyond. The Future Generations Report was another source of information about 

what the future might mean for things like jobs or flooding.   

 

The draft Well-being Plan for Gwent went out for consultation in October 2022. It had three objectives, each with several supporting steps. Full 

details of the consultation process can be found in Appendix 1. (To come) 

 

Following the consultation the responses were assessed and analysed. The responses came from five sources: the survey, community events, 

stakeholder events, statutory consultee responses and individual written responses. To understand what the most important issues were for 

people the issues raised in the consultation were then ranked according to how many of the response sources commented on each one. These 

became the objectives and steps in this Well-being Plan. We will continue to use the information from the consultation as we develop each step’s 

delivery plan in the Plan as well as continuing to engage communities and groups in our work going forward.  

  

P
age 17



 

6 

 

Timeline 
 

May 2022 

Well-being Assessment published 

Summer 2022 

Further work to understand key 

issues 

Summer 2022 

14 week Advice Period with the 

FGC 

September 2022 

Consultation draft 

 Well-being Plan agreed 

1st Oct – 31st Dec 2022 

Consultation period 

January 2023 

Understanding the consultation 

responses 

February 2023 

Well-being Plan prepared 
Feb – April 2023 

Well-being Plan approval process 

May 2023 

Well-being Plan  

2023 -2028 published 

P
age 18



 

7 

 

Five Ways of Working 

Just as when we were preparing the Well-being Assessment, we have used the five ways of working, collaboration, integration, involvement, 

long-term, and prevention, to guide our work. This means that while considering how to improve well-being in our communities now, we’ve also 

looked at how well-being could be affected in the future and how we can prevent issues becoming worse. We will need to work together to see 

what we’re each doing in a community and how this affects what we do, individually and in partnership. Finally, but most importantly, we want our 

communities, professionals, businesses, and others to identify the issues which are most important to them. As we develop how we will be 

delivering the Objectives and Steps (regional and local delivery plans) we will continue to use these principles to guide our work.  

 

 
Figure 1: The 5 ways of working from the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

 

 

  

P
age 19



 

8 

 

Seven Well-being Goals 
The actions in this Well-being Plan must contribute to the Well-being Goals for Wales. Together they show the Wales we’d like for the future and 

cover all aspects of well-being. Each of the goals are as important as each other, although this plan may do more for one goal than for another.  

 

 
Figure 2: The 7 Well-being Goals from the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

 

 

P
age 20



 

9 

 

 

The Marmot Principles – Building a Fairer Gwent  
 

Recognising the inequality that exists in our communities, identified in the Well-being Assessment, the Gwent Public Services Board has agreed 

to become a ‘Marmot region’ using this collaborative approach to undertake evidence-based action to reduce inequalities in Gwent.  

The Marmot Principles provide a framework to inform the actions to respond to the challenges faced across Gwent. This will re-focus and 

accelerate progress towards reducing the root causes of health and related inequalities across Gwent. As part of this, the PSB will use the eight 

Marmot Principles, alongside the Objectives and Steps, to shape the delivery of this Well-being Plan.  

 

Eight Marmot Principles 

1. Give every child the best start in life 

2. Enable all children, young people, and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives 

3. Create fair employment and good work for all 

4. Ensure a healthy standard of living for all 

5. Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities 

6. Strengthen the role and impact of ill-health prevention 

7. Tackle racism, discrimination, and their outcomes 

8. Pursue environmental sustainability and health equity together 

 

The Institute of Health Equity is producing a report for the PSB detailing the actions needed to tackle inequity across Gwent. As the delivery 

plans are developed this report will help to guide our work. The report, Appendix 2, is due to be published in June 2023.  

  
 

P
age 21



 

10 

 

 

Overarching principles 
As a new PSB we have agreed that there are some things that we would all want to sign up to. These aren’t Objectives or Steps but they are the 

things that will make us work more effectively together and make the positive changes we want for Gwent. They are our Overarching Principles, 

our ways of working, and reflect the five ways of working in the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  

 

Effectively working together  
Public Services Boards were established to promote better joined up working and a better understanding of how the different organisations 

contribute to the well-being of an area. We must make sure that what we do isn’t making it more difficult for others to do what they need to. We 

should be sharing knowledge, expertise, and resources whenever possible and avoid doing the same thing many times over. There will be things 

that are best done by one or two partners, but where working together is the best option, we will do this. This Well-being Plan is about the things 

we can do better together, the ‘added value’.  

 

Communication and Engagement 

While we have been developing the Well-being Assessment and Plan we have tried to engage with people and communities. We know we 

haven’t always been as successful as we would have liked to be, and the Covid-19 restrictions have made it even harder to meet you. As we 

continue to develop and deliver this plan we want to keep talking with you, to understand your concerns and ideas. We also want to work with our 

communities, when we can, to create local solutions that contribute to the regional ones.  

A full report about the Plan’s consultation is available here [hyperlink]. If you’d like to be involved in the future, either just to be kept informed, or 

to be more involved where possible, please contact: GwentPSB@caerphilly.gov.uk 

  

Welsh language and culture 
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language is one of the goals in the Well-being of Future Generations Act. Each of the seven well-

being goals describes an aspect of the Wales we want for the future, and they are all interlinked. The Welsh language forms a part of, and plays 

a part in all aspects of employment, education, culture, health and social care, community cohesion, the economy and more. 

 

Being able to use the Welsh language is a valuable skill in all parts of life across Wales. It is also a key part of Wales’ cultural heritage. Each of 

the PSB members have a statutory duty to promote the Welsh language, but together we will encourage the increase in the use Welsh by; using 

it more with each other, consulting more in Welsh and producing more of our information bilingually, rather than just our main documents.  

 

P
age 22



 

11 

 

The PSB organisations are major employers and together we can promote opportunities for our staff and workforce to learn and use the 

language. Schemes like ‘Helo Blod,’ can be used by the PSB to promote the Welsh language together as members. The Welsh language is also 

a central part of the community services such as health, social and primary care. ‘More than Just Words’ aims to improve the service for social 

services, health, and social care. The PSB will continue to use media and social media through both languages and look at how else it can 

encourage the use of the Welsh language in all its activities.  

  

Performance management  

We need to know whether what we’re doing is making a difference. We have agreed to have a single ‘performance management’ process, which 

will show us how well-being is improving. The indicators will be included in the Step Delivery Plans to make sure that we’re looking at the right 

things. The annual reports will include how much progress we’ve made against these key measures. The PSB will need to take responsibility for 

ensuring that we’re making the progress we’ve agreed we need to make.  

 

Because the PSB is all about partnership working, we will also need to share the information we each have around issues. Each of our 

organisations is collecting data all the time, and there’s also research and information coming from universities, Government agencies, the 

Census and a range of other places. All this information will be useful to the PSB, and the individual member organisations and we need to find a 

way of being able to share that safely and efficiently.  

  

P
age 23



 

12 

 

Our Well-being Objectives 
 

Using the evidence in the Well-being Assessment, the PSB has identified two interconnecting objectives (what we want to achieve). These will 

set the direction for our work for the next five years and beyond. 

 

We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all. 
 

The latest Well-being Assessment showed that although our communities are strong with many people feeling connected to their 

neighbourhoods and proud of their surroundings, the inequalities that exists in our communities have the potential to impact on all aspects of 

well-being both at a personal and community level. There are also a range of challenges that could potentially widen these inequalities in the 

future and impact negatively on well-being. People who live in more deprived communities have fewer years of life that are free from ill health 

and are more likely to have shorter lives. Children from deprived households get poorer school results; limiting their opportunities and increasing 

the risk that poverty will be passed from one generation to the next. Some people in our communities are experiencing in-work poverty with the 

amount of spare money they have after paying their bills making it difficult to afford food, transport, energy and to be digitally connected – 

especially as costs increase.  

 

Many people still feel unsafe, lonely or alone. Widening economic, health, well-being and other inequalities have affected community cohesion, 

safety and empowerment.  The assessment tells us that home ownership is already unaffordable for many low-income households, and as 

house prices rise more pressure is put on our social housing stock. Future Gwent will also need more housing stock that meets the needs of an 

ageing population and changing family structures and is resilient to a changing climate.  

 

The Covid-19 pandemic, the cost of living crisis, the UK’s exit from the EU, the war in Ukraine, and the increasing impacts of climate change, 

make the lives, livelihoods, health, safety and well-being of the people of Gwent even more challenging. If action isn’t taken, this will lead to 

poorer health and well-being because of increased deprivation, substance misuse, mental health problems, civil disorder and crime, and 

antisocial behaviour. Evidence is already showing this will impact the health and well-being of already disadvantaged people and communities 

the most, who will need additional focus and support. 

  

P
age 24



 

13 

 

 

 

We want a climate-ready Gwent, where our environment is valued and protected, benefitting our well-being now and for 

future generations. 

 

The latest Well-being Assessment showed that Gwent’s countryside, coastline, rivers and urban greenspaces are not all in good condition, Many 
of our plants and animals are in decline. This drop is, in turn, making it more difficult to deal with challenges such as climate change, poverty and 
inequality. The ‘green economy’ could provide jobs in the industries of the future such as renewables, energy efficiency and decarbonisation and 
supporting good health. Many of the unsustainable approaches that are putting pressure on our natural resources are also causing the climate to 
change. We need Gwent’s natural resources to be resilient to the impacts of a changing climate including more extreme weather events. There 
will also be challenges associated with transitioning to a low carbon future, and we will need to consider the whole energy system – heat, power 
and transport. Whilst projections of milder winters associated with a changing climate may help to reduce fuel poverty, we know that much of our 
housing stock has poor thermal efficiency and will be challenging to retrofit. 
 
For us to enjoy the benefits that nature can provide, our natural areas must be healthy and able to withstand threats and disturbance, such as 
climate change, urban development and pollution. This will require us all to work differently and really understand how we interact with our 
environment and the impacts we’re having.  
 
To do this we need to change our food, energy and transport systems so they work better for nature and for us, reducing climate change and 
protecting the resources our future generations will rely on. Developing the ‘green economy’ could provide local jobs in the industries of the future 
such as renewables, energy efficient housing and decarbonisation. Increasing the supply of locally grown food is better for nature, our health and 
reduces pollution. If we change how we travel around Gwent we can reduce carbon emissions, benefit local wildlife and our well-being. 

 

 

  

P
age 25



 

14 

 

Steps 

We have identified five steps that will help us to achieve our two well-being objectives. Delivery plans for each step explaining what will be done 

in the short, medium and longer term, who will do it and by when, will be developed during the first year of the plan using the five ways of working 

as a framework. These will be published as part of the first annual report. Work may begin on delivering some steps before the delivery plans are 

completed if it can be, especially if we already have the information we need to take action. The delivery plans will be complemented by local 

action plans at a county level. These will be written by Local Delivery Groups, which mirror the membership of the PSB but at a more local level.  

 

Take action to reduce the cost of living crisis in the longer term  
Although the cost of living crisis began after the Well-being Assessment was completed, we know that it is likely to make the poverty, deprivation 

and inequity in our communities worse and can increase crime and antisocial behaviour. Voluntary and community groups, councils and others 

are already providing support to many and will continue to do what they can.  

 

While dealing with the immediate issues we must make sure that what we do now doesn’t make things even harder in the future. The right 

training and skills will enable people to get decent work with pay that helps them to provide for their families. The growth in local renewable 

energy production and use, could provide better jobs, a cleaner environment and potentially cheaper energy for everyone. The need to make our 

homes and businesses more energy efficient and better insulated, will offer opportunities for local social enterprises and traditional businesses.  

 

Technological changes will mean that services can be provided differently, as we saw during the pandemic, with services provided virtually or 

closer to home, offering alternative travel options and reducing pollution. We will need to make sure that any changes in the way people access 

services is designed around their needs and uses new technology to support those. Local food production will help people be able to eat healthy, 

more affordable food as well as providing opportunities to share their knowledge, and failures, with others. More local food production also helps 

to reduce the impact on the environment and is less prone to supply disruption.  

 

Links to the other steps 

Homes  Environment  Health  Communities  

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

P
age 26



 

15 

 

 

Provide and enable the supply of good quality, affordable, appropriate homes  
Having a home is central to a person’s well-being. It means they can get a job, an education, the help and support they may need and allows 

them to feel part of a community or neighbourhood. Homes can be owned by the person living in them, rented from the council, a housing 

association, or a private landlord. How many homes are rented or owned is different across the region, as are the costs of buying or renting a 

home. The Well-being Assessment showed that the average house price in Monmouthshire is around three times that in Blaenau Gwent. Being 

able to afford to pay the rent or mortgage is only part of the story.  

 

The cost of living in that home has also been increasing and many homes could be much more energy efficient, tackling both climate change and 

fuel poverty. As Wales moves towards being carbon neutral the need to make homes more energy efficient and better insulated is becoming 

more important. Insulating homes should help people to stay healthier for longer, help to reduce energy use and therefore costs, provide good 

quality local jobs as well as helping to protect the natural environment around the world.  

 

Homes need to be in the right place to support individuals and the community, with access to local shops, workplaces, schools, health care, 

cultural and leisure activities, and transport. We know that as the climate changes there are likely to be more floods, storms, heatwaves and 

other weather events and homes need to be able to cope with those. Communities are changing, with more blended families, older people and 

people living alone, so housing needs to be adaptable and suitable for those changes. 

 

The consultation showed that having good quality, affordable housing was an important issue for our communities. How housing is provided is 

very different across the region. The PSB wants to work together to improve the quality of homes in Gwent, but it will take some time to identify 

work we can do together because of the different rules and funding available to the different organisations.  

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living Environment Health  Communities  

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

P
age 27



 

16 

 

Taking action to reduce our carbon emissions, help Gwent adapt to climate change, and protect and restore our natural environment  
Protecting the environment for future generations is one of the greatest challenges of our time. The land, air, water, trees, plants, animals, and 

insects provide us with everything we need to live. However, our need for new homes and workplaces, renewable energy, recreation, and food 

production are putting nature under pressure. Without a healthy environment across Gwent there can be no well-being benefits for our 

communities.  

 

The effects of climate change are being felt in our communities through flooding and heat waves. The Welsh public sector is committed to 

become carbon neutral by 2030. We must reduce Gwent’s carbon emissions by increasing our use of renewable and sustainable energy 

sources, increasing availability of local food, reducing waste, and changing how we travel around Gwent. We want to support our communities to 

adapt to the impacts of climate change, recognising that some communities are more exposed to floods, heatwaves, air pollution and other 

climate risks to health.  

 

We need to better manage the demands on Gwent’s natural environment and protect, connect and restore nature. We’ll support community 

green/blue space initiatives which bring communities together, especially in areas of Gwent which have least access to local, quality outdoor 

spaces for health and well-being. Whilst focusing on the immediate needs across Gwent, we’ll also ensure our decisions consider future trends, 

and don’t make things even harder for future generations. 

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living  Health Homes Communities 

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

P
age 28



 

17 

 

 

Take action to address inequities, particularly in relation to health, through the framework of the Marmot Principles 
People’s health and well-being is affected by many things, clean air, water, and food, being able to get decent work, a suitable home, having 

local shops, access to culture and leisure activities, a quality education, good transport and social networks as well as health information and 

care. Where someone lives and how much money they have impacts on their health and happiness, it can lead to poorer health and less 

opportunity to thrive in life. 

 

The Gwent PSB has agreed to use the framework of the eight Marmot Principles, developed by Prof. Sir Michael Marmot and his team at the 

Institute of Health Equity, which focus on the central issues that affect fairness, health and well-being. This approach will help to identify how to 

address the root causes of poor health and inequity across Gwent. The Institute of Health Equity is writing a report, using the evidence from the 

Well-being Assessment, the consultation responses, and their experience of working in other areas across the UK, to make recommendations for 

how the Gwent PSB and other regional partnerships, can take action to reduce inequities across Gwent. This report will form the basis of the 

action plan for this step.  

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living  Environment Homes Communities 

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

  

P
age 29



 

18 

 

 

Enable and support people, neighbourhoods, and communities to be resilient, connected, thriving and safe 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, communities across Gwent pulled together to support each other in times of need. But the cost of living crisis and 

the war in Ukraine have made existing inequities and poverty worse, with crime and antisocial behaviour increasing as people find life harder. We 

also know that there are some people, or communities, living in the region that don’t feel as welcome, safe, or supported as they should. This 

could be because they are old, sick, at risk from flooding, domestic violence, drug misuse or racism. Many of these issues have been there for 

decades, with poor housing, health, and jobs, making it harder for people to improve their well-being.  

 

Thriving communities need safe, affordable, suitable homes, access to sports, leisure, and cultural activities, with opportunities to get involved 

through paid work or volunteering, and in the language of their choice. There are historical buildings and areas across Gwent that could be used 

as community resources for local arts programmes and other activities, providing an opportunity to promote and share knowledge about the local 

heritage, history, and culture.  

 

Communities need decent, reliable transport that enables people to access services, get to decent work, attend events, or visit family and 

friends, safely, cheaply and in a low carbon way. The beautiful countryside provides the space for exercise and recreation for people of all ages, 

benefiting their physical and mental health and providing opportunities to reduce the effects of extreme weather events, caused by a changing 

climate. 

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living  Environment  Health Homes 

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

  

P
age 30



 

19 

 

What happens next?  
 

During the first year of this Plan we will be preparing detailed delivery plans at a regional and local level. Working with our Local Delivery Groups, 

other partnerships, communities, Community Councils, voluntary groups, and others, we will get a better understanding of what needs to be done 

and how best to do it. These delivery plans will form the basis of the first annual report, along with updates. There may be things we can do in the 

short term, such as finding out more about how something similar has been done before or declaring a nature emergency or promoting fair pay 

within our organisations.  But we must make sure that these support our long-term objectives and the steps we have identified. 

 

 

  

P
age 31



 

20 

 

 

 

How the Marmot Principles link to the steps 
 

 Cost of living Housing Environment Health equity Community 

Give every child the best start in life      

Enable all children, young people, and adults to 
maximise their capabilities and have control over 
their lives 

     

Create fair employment and good work for all      

Ensure a healthy standard of living for all      

Create and develop healthy and sustainable places 
and communities 

     

Strengthen the role and impact of ill-health 
prevention 

     

Tackle racism, discrimination, and their outcomes      

Pursue environmental sustainability and health 
equity together 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 32



 

21 

 

Connections with other Partnerships and Plans 
Across the Gwent region, and beyond, there are a number of other partnerships and initiatives which will make a difference to people and rather 

than repeat what these groups are doing, the Gwent PSB will look to work with them to deliver its objectives for Gwent.  

 

Local Delivery Groups 
In each of the local authority areas which make up the Gwent region, Local Delivery Groups (LDGs) have been set up to deliver the PSB’s 

objectives at the local level. Their membership is similar to that of the PSB, with additional local representation. Activity to deliver the objectives 

may look different in different areas and the LDGs will be able to better connect with and draw on local expertise and groups to provide a local 

flavour. In time these groups may want to deliver their own action plans creating a link between local and regional priorities and action.  

 

Regional Partnership Board (RPB) 
The Gwent RPB brings together the health board, local authorities and the voluntary sector to ensure effective services, and care and support is 

in place to best meet the needs of the people of Gwent. The priority areas they need to work on are services for: older people with complex 

needs and long-term conditions, including dementia; people with learning disabilities; carers, including young carers; Integrated Family Support 

Services; children with complex needs due to disability or illness. The RPB must write a Population Needs Assessment and an Area Plan. These 

complement the Well-being Assessment and this Well-being Plan. The PSB will support the work of the RPB, and they will support our work, but 

we will make sure that we’re not duplicating each other’s work.  

 

Building a Fairer Gwent – a Marmot Region 
A Marmot Region is a network of local stakeholders committed to tackling inequity through action on the social determinants of health – the 

social and economic conditions which shape our health with action framed within eight principles. Becoming a Marmot Region demonstrates that 

we want to work together at a senior level to improve equity across Gwent, and improve the lives of all our communities.  

 

Safer Gwent - Community Safety Partnership  

Safer Gwent, is a regional multi-agency Community Safety Partnership (CSP), made up of statutory bodies under the Crime & Disorder Act, and 

wider partners who have a key role in addressing the community safety portfolio.  Safer Gwent aims to carry out, on behalf of the Gwent PSB, 

the oversight of regional community safety issues and quality assure the coordination of regional activity to support local CSP delivery. In 

addition, Safer Gwent is uniquely positioned to take forward the Gwent PSB community safety & cohesion priorities, whilst ensuring that the PSB 

is fully cited on and able to respond to issues identified within the annual community safety strategic assessment.    

P
age 33



 

22 

 

Cardiff Capital Region 
The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) is a collaborative partnership comprising the ten Local Authorities that make up South East Wales and 

represents almost half the population of Wales.  The CCR delivers a wide range of regeneration and investment projects, managed by a 

dedicated team and a ring-fenced £1.2bn investment fund, through the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, which aims to deliver 25,000 new jobs 

and generate an additional £4bn of private sector investment by 2036.  The CCR’s high-profile projects include: the £50m Innovation Investment 

Capital fund, supporting business to scale up; the £50m Sites and Premises Fund, developing new sites to support the delivery of their Industrial 

and Economic Plan; the £10m Challenge Fund, supporting Local Authority innovation to accelerate decarbonisation and transform communities; 

the Homes for the Region programme to deliver 2,800 new homes; and several Metro projects transforming public transport infrastructure across 

the region.   

 

Strategic Corporate Plans 
These are the plans each of the organisations that make up the PSB have for what they are going to do over the next 3 – 5 years. These have 

difference names in different organisations but they all set the high level direction for that organisation including their own Well-being Objectives 

which need to align to those of the PSB.  

 

Area Statements  
The South East Wales Area Statement (SEAS) informs internal and external planning across Gwent and helps stakeholders (including the PSB) 

consider different ways of working together.  

 

The Area Statement process helps explore and shape aspirational ways of working. It has 4 themes: Linking Our Landscapes, Climate Ready 

Gwent, Healthy Active Connected and Ways of Working. The collaborative actions identified under each theme are underpinned by best 

available evidence, local knowledge and understanding gathered throughout the development of the SEAS. The outcomes under each of the four 

strategic themes will deliver the Area Statement vision for South East. This vision has been developed collaboratively over the course of the Area 

Statement process and is underpinned by what specialists and wider stakeholders want to see in Gwent. 

 

Greater Gwent Nature Recovery Action Plan (GGNRAP) 
The GGNRAP is a strategic framework, aiming to halt and reverse negative biodiversity trends, aligning national policy and legislation, informed 

by evidence including the Greater Gwent State of Nature Report 2020 Greater-Gwent-State-of-Nature-4-002.pdf (monlife.co.uk), the South East 

Wales Area Statement and Gwent Well-being Assessments. It is intended to be used by public bodies and organisations which operate at a 

regional level across the Greater Gwent area, including those on the Gwent PSB, to support better involvement that drives positive change and 

collaborative action together, long term. It is also a guide for the Local Nature Recovery Action Plans which focus more on local action to 

promote biodiversity in each Local Nature Partnership area found within Gwent. 

P
age 34



 

23 

 

 

Third Sector Partnership Agreement 
The Third Sector Partnership Agreement between the Gwent PSB and the wider third sector recognises the mutual benefits that can be gained 

from close co-operation between the statutory partners and third sector across the Gwent PSB landscape.  It builds on previous local versions 

and sets out guidelines for how all parties should work together. Partnership Agreements with the third sector have been identified by Welsh 

Government as good practice.   

 

Participatory budgeting 
Funding has been made available to the five Gwent Local Authorities to lead participatory budgeting programmes in their areas.  The authorities 

are currently at different stages of development and with differing levels of investment. Some local authorities have now completed one or more 

programmes.  Initial feedback has suggested participatory budgeting is effective in distributing funding to community groups, can help achieve 

wellbeing objectives, can generate high levels of participation and is well received.  Public Health Wales are leading a review of participatory 

budgeting undertaken across Gwent, to inform and improve future use of this approach. 

  

P
age 35



 

24 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Consultation and engagement – chapter 

 

Appendix 2 Marmot Report 

 

Appendix 3 RPB Area Plan  

 

Appendix 4 PSBs in Gwent’s Well-being Objectives 2018 – 2023 

  

P
age 36



 

25 

 

Appendix 4 

PSBs in Gwent’s Well-being Objectives 2018 – 2023 

 

Blaenau Gwent PSB Caerphilly PSB Newport PSB Monmouthshire PSB Torfaen PSB 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
to forge new pathways 
to prosperity 

Positive Change -a 
shared commitment to 
improving the way we 
work together 

People feel part of their 
community and have a 
sense of belonging 

Respond to the challenges 
associated with 
demographic change.  

Develop a functional, 
connected network of 
natural areas that support 
the current and future 
well-being needs of local 
populations 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
everyone to have the 
best start to life. 

Positive Start- giving 
our future generations 
the best start in life 

Provide children and 
young people with the 
best possible start in 
life 

Provide Children and 
young people with the 
best start in life. 

Provide children and 
young people with the 
best possible start in life. 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
safe and friendly 
communities. 

Positive People- 
empowering and 
enabling all our 
residents to achieve 
their own potential. 

Ensuring people feel 
safe in their 
communities. 

 Create safe, confident 
communities and promote 
community cohesion 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
to encourage and 
enable people to make 
healthy lifestyle 
choices in places that 
they live, learn, work 
and play.  

Positive Places-
enabling our 
communities to be 
resilient and 
sustainable 

Long and healthy lives 
for all 

 Support healthy lifestyles 
and enable people to age 
well. 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
to look after and 
protect its natural 
environment. 

 Newport has a clean 
and safe environment 
for people to use and 
enjoy. 

Protect and enhance 
resilience of our natural 
environment whilst 
mitigating and adapting to 
the impact of climate 
change. 

Develop mitigation and 
adaptation responses to 
the impacts of climate 
change 

  Improve the 
perceptions of Newport 

 Tackle the 
intergenerational patterns 

P
age 37



 

26 

 

as a place to live, work, 
visit and invest 

of poverty and develop 
economic resilience. 

  Drive up skill levels for 
economic and social 
well-being. 

Develop opportunities for 
communities and 
businesses to be part of 
an economically thriving 
and well-connected 
county. 

Improve local skills 
through work-force 
planning, training, 
apprenticeships, and 
volunteering opportunities. 

  People feel part of their 
community and have a 
sense of belonging 

  

  Participation in arts, 
heritage and history is 
important for people’s 
well-being 

  

  Improve air quality 
across the city 

  

  Communities are 
resilient to climate 
change 

  

  Participation in sports 
and physical activity is 
important for people’s 
well-being 

  

  People have access to 
stable homes in a 
sustainable supportive 
community 

  

 

P
age 38



Chief Officer: Children 
and Young People

Annual Report June 2023

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7



Contents

• Purpose

• Introduction

• The Education System in Monmouthshire

• How did we do last year?

• Our Provision:
• Early Years
• Our Schools
• Attendance
• Supporting Disadvantaged Learners

• Community Focused Schools

• Developing an Inclusive Education System
• Additional Learning Needs
• Educational Psychology
• Pupil Referral Service

• Developing an Inclusive Education System
• Education Other Than At School (EOTAS)
• Support Services
• Healthy Schools

• Developing our School Estate and Planning for 
the Future

• Development of Our Schools
• School Place and Planning for the Future
• Finance and Sustainability

• Welsh in Education Strategic Plan

• Conclusions

P
age 40



Purpose

The purpose of this report is to provide members 
with an overview of the status and performance of 
the education system in Monmouthshire. It is not a 
report that seeks to capture every dimension of 
service delivery but rather one that seeks to provide 
the Chief Officer’s perspective of the relevant 
strengths and weaknesses in the system, the risks 
that the service faces and the opportunities that exist 
to improve.

The last Chief Officer’s report was presented to 
council in 2021. Therefore this report will in some 
instances cover a two year window of activity but its 
main focus will be on the last administrative year and 
the progress that was made against the key 
deliverables.

P
age 41



Introduction

Education in Wales is in one of its most challenging periods.  The 
return to school following the pandemic has affected both learners 
and the teams that work in schools in a way that, whilst predictable, 
has been more intense and extensive than many envisaged.  The 
Welsh Government has advanced an ambitious reform agenda which 
will deliver the new Curriculum for Wales (CfW) and a new approach 
to the provision of support for children with additional learning 
needs (ALN).  Furthermore, the ‘cost of living crisis’ has seen the 
number of children in our schools facing financial challenges at home 
increase. Finally, and not least, our schools are facing workforce and 
financial challenges on a daily basis.

The thirty five schools and settings in Monmouthshire have not been 
immune to any of the tests above, our (relative) affluence has not 
protected us from the impact of the recent societal changes.

However, it would be entirely wrong to project this period as simply 
a negative one. Monmouthshire’s schools have worked tirelessly to 
promote the wellbeing of their learners. In doing so they have 
sought to ‘return’ to effective teaching and learning with a focus on 
the progress that their children make in lessons.

In the period of time since I last presented to Council we have seen 
local changes in the in the administration and leadership of the 
Council.  This change has seen a focus articulated through the 
recently approved Community and Corporate Plan.  

Taking Monmouthshire Forward: working together for a fairer, 
greener, more successful county draws on all the resources we have 
to become a zero-carbon county, while also supporting well-being, 
health and dignity for all. 

This focus aligns well to the ambitions of the Children and Young 
People’s Directorate.  There has been a sharpened focus on the 
mitigation of the impacts of economic disadvantage inline with the 
cost of living crisis.  This builds on existing work to ensure that all 
learners achieve their full potential irrespective of heir background 
or starting points in life.  

The administration have placed equality and decarbonisation at the 
heart of their planning and aspirations.  Officers from across the 
Children and Young People’s Directorate work effectively with the 
Cabinet member, the Cabinet and the Council more broadly to 
ensure that the voice of elected members is heard in our planning 
and delivery.

P
age 42



The Education System in 
Monmouthshire
The shape of our system and how we work

P
age 43



The shape of our place

Monmouthshire is a relatively large, rural county situated in the 
south east of Wales. It is located at the heart of the important 
strategic corridor between Cardiff and Bristol.

We have 28 English medium and 2 Welsh medium primary 
schools, the majority of which are single form entry (a single 
class). There are four secondary schools each located in one of 
the county’s main towns. There is also a Pupil Referral Service 
(PRS) that supports learners at risk of exclusion from 
mainstream school or those unable to attend school.

The schools in Monmouthshire employ 1,148 members of staff 
(the central CYP directorate employs 78 members of staff).

The schools educate 11,570 pupils across the county (52% of 
which are male); 15.5% of the population have an identified 
additional learning need and 17.3% of the population are 
eligible for free school meals (FSM).

P
age 44



The shape of our place: Age and 
Gender

P
age 45



The shape of our place: ALN needs

P
age 46



The shape of our place: eFSM and 
Gender

P
age 47



The Shape of the Team

Will McLean

Chief Officer, Children 
and Young People

Sharon Randall-Smith

Head of Service: 
Attainment and 

Achievement

Michelle Kear

Education Welfare 
Service

Elective 
Home Education (EHE)

Family Liaison Officers

Claire Line

Acorn Centre Manager

Beth Watkins

Flying Start Manager

Sue Hall

Early Years Manager

Early Years ALN

Early Years and

Childcare

Morwenna Wagstaff

Head of Service: 
Inclusion

Gareth Morgan

Pupil Referral Service 
Manager

Keeva McDermott

Vulnerable Learners 
Lead

Lucie Doyle

Principal Educational 
Psychologist

Specialist Teaching 
Service (MoSTS)

Education Support 
Team (EST)

Jacky Elias

Principal ALN Officer

Emma Taylor

Healthy Settings Lead

Nikki Wellington

School Support 
Manager

Sophie Evans / Steve 
Hughes Deputy Finance 

Managers

Matt Jones School and 
Student Access

Cath Saunders

Sustainable 
Communities for 

Learning

Tim Bird Education 
Adviser

Project Support

P
age 48



The Shape of the Team

The past year has seen the Children and Young People’s Directorate form 
into four clear areas of work. They represent:

• School Improvement

• Inclusion Services

• Support Services

• Sustainable Communities for Learning

This development has allowed for greater clarity in roles and 
responsibility and secured greater capacity in the inclusion service. With 
the current focus on supporting learners return to school and addressing 
additional learning needs and behaviours that challenge, this has been a 
worthwhile investment.

It should be noted that the four elements of the team work closely 
together and recognise the interlocking nature of their areas of 
work. Simply put, the work of our school improvement professionals is 
negated without pupils attending school, in the same way we know that 
the best approach to addressing behaviours that challenge is to ensure 
that excellent teaching and learning is taking place in our classrooms that 
keeps learners engaged. Our support services work to ensure that we are 
able to manage the school finances that ensure the right staff are working 
in our schools. The Sustainable Communities for Learning ensure that our 
schools are suitable for our learners now and in the future.

P
age 49



The Shape of the Team
Partnerships

Much of the work of the Children and Young Peoples Directorate can only be achieved 
through working in Partnership.

The biggest team in the directorate is the Flying Start team who are a shared, grant 
funded team that works across MCC and Aneurin Bevan University Health Board. This 
work to promote early health and development of our youngest children is vital to 
ensuring children arrive in school ready to begin their learning journey.

Equally, our early years education is a partnership between our 25 non-maintained 
settings and our 12 maintained settings. This provides a vital link to our schools and 
shows the way in which the two sectors work to best provide childcare and education 
that meets the needs of our families.

For our schools perhaps the most significant partnership that exists is the work that is 
undertaken with our commissioned (and jointly owned) school improvement partner, 
the Education Achievement Service (EAS).

This vital organisation provides us with the insight of what is happening in our schools 
through their School Improvement Partners (SIPs) but then provide bespoke support 
and broader professional learning across a number of areas such as Curriculum, Health, 
Wellbeing and Equity and Leadership.

Outside of these partnerships there a whole host of other partnerships with internal 
departments and external agencies that support the provision of services for children 
across Monmouthshire.

P
age 50



A moving & evolving system

Strategic 
Direction 
(our local 
direction)

Post-
pandemic 
response

The 
reform 
agenda

Stretched 
resources

P
age 51



The local frame for our work

Unlike many aspects of service delivery in Monmouthshire the 
role of the Chief Officer, Children and Young People is, in some 
ways, peculiarly constrained. The direction of travel of the 
Welsh Education system is set by the Welsh Government. The 
clearest articulation of which is the latest National Mission 
document. This is then interpreted and delivered at a local 
level by our 33 school leaders.

This does not mean, however, that there is not the scope or 
capacity for Monmouthshire to have a vital role in the work of 
our education system. It is the role of the Authority to provide 
direction, support and challenge to our schools. For a number 
of years now we have clearly articulated our aspirations for the 
system and the young people who learn in that system.

These have been focused upon being a high performing system 
that delivers excellent education for all our learners. This report 
will set out our emergent areas of focus for 2023/24 and an 
update on the progress we made in 2022/23.

We now have a Community and Corporate Plan that provides 
a clear direction of travel for the service and a vital link in the 
‘golden thread’ from the National Mission to local school 
delivery.

The key deliverables of The Learning Place are:

• Improved school attendance and reduced levels of exclusion 
which remove barriers to learning for vulnerable pupils

• The benefits of the new curriculum in Wales are maximised 
through excellent teaching and learning

• A truly inclusive educational system that recognises learners’ 
starting points, strengths and educational needs

• Continue our programme of school modernisation

These will be the drivers for the activity in each of the Heads of 
Service’s Delivery Plan for the coming year.

P
age 52



The broader context we are working in

If the national and local policy framework in which we are 
working has become clearer and more stable the societal 
context in which we are working remains more volatile and 
uncertain.

Across the system, at all levels, there is an absolute recognition 
that the pandemic continues to have a significant impact on our 
learners and the teams of staff that support them.

When the pandemic struck in 2020, Monmouthshire had just 
been inspected. This broadly positive inspection left the 
Authority with a clear sense of its direction and areas of work 
where it needed to focus its attention. The pandemic changed 
the platform from which we are trying to climb and, in many 
ways, changed the mountain we are seeking to scale.

P
age 53



The broader context we are working in

The pandemic was a hugely significant interruption to 
traditional, structured teaching and learning for all of our 
school- based learners but it had profound effects on those 
below school age, impacting on their socialisation and early 
development. For those reasons alone we can expect the 
impact to last well into the medium term.

As the most significant societal controls lifted, we saw Wales's 
education inspectorate, Estyn, return to full activity. The 
inspection framework has evolved with the new Chief Inspector 
bringing important changes that have evolved the nature of the 
inspection. It remains a vital part of the assurance framework in 
which we operate.

The pandemic did bring some respite from a period of 
exceptionally challenging school budgetary 
management. However, the budget setting process for the 
current financial year was particularly challenging and for the 
first time since 2015-16 a reduction in the Individual School’s 
Budget (ISB) was made. This in some ways contributes to the 
final part of volatile context in which we are working.

This year has seen industrial action by two trade unions in our 
schools. In early 2023 the NEU undertook strike action to 
campaign for a higher pay award (the Independent Pay Review 
Body Wales recommended 5% in November 2022 which was 
agreed by the Minister). This led to three days of teachers 
striking. It had a variable impact on schools in Monmouthshire 
with some closing completely and others able to remain open.

More recently the National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) 
voted to partake in industrial action for the first time in their 125 
year history. They have voted to engage in Action Short of Strike 
(ASOS) with the stated intention of frustrating the education 
system. It has three areas of concern - pay erosion over time, 
Headteacher’s workload and the transparency of education 
funding. This has been a significant challenge to the way in 
which the local authority works with its schools and the extent 
to which I am able to provide you with assurance as to the 
performance of the system.

P
age 54



The reform agenda
In many ways it would be easier to describe the aspects of the 
education system that are not changing or evolving. The scale of 
change and development is hugely significant and has had a 
profound impact on the education our children receive. These 
reforms are captured in the National Mission: 2023 (see next page).

The Curriculum for Wales has been adopted in all primary schools 
and is being rolled out in all of our secondary schools. This process 
will continue until the teaching of the first of the new GCSEs in 2025 
and their first award in 2027.

The Additional Learning Needs service and our associated provision 
is experiencing its most significant changes in more than 20 
years. The language of ‘statements’ has been replaced by Individual 
Development Plans (IDPs) and there is a far greater role for schools 
to play in the maintenance and delivery of these statutory 
documents.

Alongside these two main areas of reform which require the greatest 
levels of resource, development and focus, there are a range of other 
areas that in many ways are of equal value. The ambitions to create 
a million Welsh speakers by 2050 has a significant impact on the 
authority and on the ambition expressed through its Welsh in 
education Strategic Plan (WESP).

The Council has been committed to closing the attainment gap between 

those learners who we understand to be disadvantaged and the rest of 

the cohort since the start of my tenure as Chief Officer. Traditionally the 

proxy measure for this has been those learners eligible for free school 

meals but the pandemic and the cost of living crisis has forced us to 

reconsider our understanding of disadvantage and the impact this has on 

learners.

The pandemic impacted on learners’ academic progress, particularly in 

relation to disadvantaged learners and even more significant, was its 

impact upon learners’ and staff’s wellbeing. The Whole School Approach 

to Emotional and Mental Wellbeing is a structured approach for schools 

to understand how, as organisations, they are best placed to promote 

wellbeing. This has a hugely significant impact on children’s attendance 

and achievement in school.

Finally, there have been some specific and discreet curriculum changes as 

a part of the reform agenda. These have addressed areas such as 

religious and values education (RVE) and Relationships and Sexual 

education (RSE). Despite the delineations between these two areas, there 

have been times when their teaching has overlapped and become a 

concern for some in the community.

The final area of reform is the Government's intention to make Wales 

anti-racist by 2030. This work led by DARPL is an area of increasing focus.

P
age 55



Our National Mission

P
age 56



How we observe the system

When I first presented my Chief Officer’s Report in 2018 it 
included 26 pages of detailed analysis of attainment data. Its 
focus was purely on the attainment of our learners at the end of 
the four statutory stages of education (the Foundation Phase, 
Keys Stage 2, 3 & 4) and this was analysed by levels of 
performance (expected level, expected level +1), gender and 
eligibility for free school meals.

Whilst this was a helpful crutch, in some ways it did not capture 
the richness of the work that takes place in our schools. Just 
before the pandemic the Welsh Government and WLGA decided 
that this approach was not the most effective to drive 
improvement in the system. (This decision is set out on the next 
slide).

Our ability to ‘know’ our schooling system is now much richer 
than it was when we relied solely on end of key stage data.

Every year we hold professional discussions with our schools to 
understand the aims and objectives of their School development 
Plans (SDPs) we use these to validate the evaluative activity that 
the findings have been based on. We ascertain whether the 
approaches are appropriate, and we facilitate bespoke support 
from our colleagues in the EAS.

Throughout the year we then work with the EAS to undertake 
supported self-evaluation activity. In the current academic year, 
the autumn term was focused on supporting disadvantaged 
learners. In the spring and summer term we have focused on 
the standards of teaching and learning in our schools. This was 
done through the EAS’s Celebrate, Support, Share, Refine (CSSR) 
approach.

Where approaches do not reach our expectations, we use a 
range of different tools but in particular the Team Around The 
School (TAS).

P
age 57



Changes to accountability

Communication from the Welsh Government, the WLGA and Estyn to Chairs of 
Scrutiny, Cabinet Members, Directors of Education, Chief Executive Officers, 
Managing Directors of Regional Education Consortia, stated that:

It is counter-productive for schools to be placed under disproportionate pressure on the basis of 
individual measures. It is not in the interest of school improvement and risks undermining the 
ongoing change in culture that we are working together to achieve. We expect local authorities 
and regional consortia to support schools to make appropriate decisions about their curriculum 
to avoid narrowing choice for learners.

Collectively, we have agreed that this is the right approach to take and strongly advise you to 
use a broad range of un-aggregated data and information to enable you to discharge your 
duties when reporting on school performance. Evaluating the performance of individual schools 
rather than generating aggregated data at local authority level will be more helpful to 
supporting and challenging individual schools with their improvement.

P
age 58



How we observe the system

Our engagement with our schools is not limited to the school 
improvement activity of our professionals and the EAS. On any given day 
we will have a number of professional interactions with schools that allow 
us to form a view of where the system is and the risks that are present.

Our Educational Psychologists (EPs) are regular visitors to our schools and 
work closely with learners, teachers and support team members. The EPs 
deploy teams into schools to support our learners, the Specialist Teaching 
Service (MoST) focuses on supporting learners' literacy skills and the 
Education Support Team (EST) are a new part of the organisation and 
work with learners who are at risk of disengaging with their learning in a 
mainstream setting.

The Education Welfare Service (EWS) also works closely with schools to 
support vulnerable learners whose attendance has fallen below 
acceptable levels. This work is vital in the post-pandemic period where 
attendance at school has become an issue for all schools across Wales. In 
particular we see the emergence of emotionally based school avoidance 
(EBSA) intrinsically linked to the heightened anxiety of both learners and 
families.

Beyond support for learners the authority works closely with schools to 
support their governance and financial management. This gives us 
another layer of insight into the ways schools are run. In the last year 
there has been a sharp focus on the financial resilience of schools.

The authority delegates the individual school budget every year and this is 
done in accordance with the Fair Funding Regulations. Schools and the 
Authority have a key role in promoting financial prudence but also a 
recognition that the funding afforded to schools is there to afford learners 
the best educational experience that they can access.

It would be remiss of me not to recognise that in the recent past access to 
schools has been more limited than previously. The adoption of action 
short of strike by members of the NAHT has fettered our ability to engage 
with schools. In particular this has affected our work with the EAS to 
progress school improvement activity, such as the CSSR programme. We 
have also had a lack of engagement in progressing some policy positions.

P
age 59



How did we do last year?
An evaluation against our Estyn recommendations and our ambitions for 2022/23

P
age 60



Our Estyn Recommendations
Our Estyn 
recommendation

Our progress

Improve outcomes for pupils 
eligible for free school meals

• Since before the Estyn inspection in 2020 there has been a relentless focus on the standard of 
provision for these learners who experience disadvantage.

• Unfortunately, the pandemic constrained our ability to report the outcomes of learners compared to 
the past (this will change later this year with the Welsh Government’s decision to return to the 
publication of KS4 ‘Capped 9’ outcomes).

• However, this remains a key focus in individual evaluative conversations with schools and features in 
our thematic work with the EAS during the autumn term 2022, the outcome of which is reported later 
in this report.

• Many recent Estyn reports indicate that learners eligible for free school meals are making good 
progress in their learning.

Further strengthen the focus on 
increasing the number of pupils 
achieving excellent standards

• Monmouthshire remains committed to being an excellent education system; one that ensures all 
learners make good and excellent progress during their time in our schools.

• We recognise that many of our learners arrive in school from an advantaged position and we must 
capitalise on this to increase the number of pupils who achieve excellent outcomes.

• This is not to understate the challenges, both organisational and learner related, that remain in our 
schools across the county, but rather to recognise the starting position of our learners.

• We continue to work closely with school leaders to determine what constitutes ‘excellent’ for their 
learners and derive means of capturing this information accurately.

The ‘Capped 9’ score consists of a student’s points score in English/Welsh, maths,
science plus their next best 6 qualifications.   

P
age 61



Our Estyn Recommendations

Our Estyn 
Recommendation

Our Progress

Articulate a clear 
strategy for SEN 
provision

• The restructure and creation of a broader Inclusion Team has meant that the articulation of an ALN strategy will 

now form part of a broader umbrella suite of interconnected strategies and related toolkits/ resources/ policies 

for:

• ALN

• Relationships

• Children Looked After

• Reducing Exclusions

• These will sit within the current contextual framework of legislation/ guidance and will have overarching 

principles, informed shared values and key drivers such as person centred/ trauma informed practice/ children’s 

rights/ equalities/ positive behavioural support/ participation etc. The Inclusion Team is developing this currently.

P
age 62



Our Estyn Recommendations

Our Estyn 
Recommendation

Our Progress

Strengthen the use of 
information gathered 
through self-evaluation 
to better inform 
improvement planning

• Evaluation sits at the heart of understanding how well our service works and the impact that we are having on 
our learners’ progress and the effectiveness of the services we run.

• The pandemic and, more recently, the ASOS have restricted our ability to gain data and information in the way in 
which we have in the past.

• However, improvements in our IT systems have promoted better reporting and analysis of attendance and 
exclusions data which is allowing us to focus our work in areas of need.

• The recently adopted Community and Corporate Plan now provides a clear framework for action and evaluation 
of services to ensure that we are working most effectively in the areas of need.

P
age 63



Last Year’s Ambitions
Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Ensure our schools are 
effectively supported 
to emerge from the 
pandemic in an 
informed position to 
meet the needs of all 
learners so that they 
achieve their 
potential.

Ensuring our learners attend School

• During the pandemic, the Education Welfare Service (EWS) team maintained regular contact with vulnerable families and those 

feeling anxious about attending school as restrictions were lifted. Education Welfare Officers (EWO) provided support for schools, 

learners and their families to overcome barriers which ensure da successful return to school for many vulnerable learners.

• The Lead Officer in EWS for children missing education (CME) monitors learner movement from schools and other local authorities 

and records the support given to ensure they are safe. The CME officer works closely with other EW officers and the EHE officer to 

ensure provision within Monmouthshire is in place and monitored regularly.

• The EWS team have established good lines of communication with schools and other agencies which they use effectively to share 

relevant information such as Operation Encompass notifications and MARAC information. As a result, pupils receive the 

support they need in a timely manner.

• EWS has taken the lead in developing PowerBI to improve how we capture and analyse attendance across the county. Whilst this is 

at an early stage of development, we are already seeing benefits to workload and the range of analysis at our disposal.

• The number of families who have elected to home educate (EHE) has increased significantly since the pandemic. The EHE/EWS 

team continue to support these families by maintaining regular contact with then through home visits and face to face events. We

have used the EHE grant to maintain a full time EHE support officer, provide a range of enrichment activities and support for EHE 

learners sitting Year 11 examinations. WG shared our model with other local authorities across Wales as an example of good 

practice in the use of the EHE grant.

P
age 64



Last Year’s Ambitions
Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Ensure our schools are 
effectively supported 
to emerge from the 
pandemic in an 
informed position to 
meet the needs of all 
learners so that they 
achieve their 
potential.

Supporting Learners’ Wellbeing

• Following the pandemic, the Education Psychology Service (EPS) offered online training in partnership with Community Psychology that was focused on 

supporting schools to meet the needs of pupils returning to school. All training, including further specific training on the wellbeing of staff and pupils, 

and anxiety remains available to schools via the EPS Training Portal

• Since the Emotionally Based School Avoidance (EBSA) project was launched, all four of Monmouthshire’s secondary school have received bespoke EBSA

training. This has had an impact on the confidence of school based staff to meet the needs of pupils who are struggling to attend school.

• In the summer term 2022 we used grant funding to support a pilot initiative in a secondary school to support a group of highly anxious (EBSA) children

who were struggling to attend school. A review of this pilot will be completed by the end of the academic year 2023.

• We have also used ALN grant funding to introduce Cross-Phase ALN Support Officers. These are based in each secondary school, who work into the

cluster Primary schools, to promote their inclusion and wellbeing, and to support the transition from Primary to Secondary school. This includes working

preventatively with CYP at risk of EBSA and has meant that many vulnerable/ disadvantaged learners have received enhanced transition in Y5 &Y6.

• The implementation of the Whole School Approach to Emotional Mental Wellbeing framework 2021 aims to ensure schools are aware of the wellbeing 

of staff and pupils and supports them to develop plans to promote positive wellbeing for all. The phased engagement of our schools has been positive, 

we currently have 15 schools working with the team on the WSA to EMWB self - evaluation tool. This equates to 43% of schools in MCC.

• We have recently reviewed the core purpose and membership of the MCC Wellbeing Subgroup which has been renamed as the Wellbeing in Schools 

Subgroup to reflect its increased participation of schools. The group will continue to report to the CYP Strategic Partnership Group on the key priorities 

which include: (i) Responding to the School Health Research Network (SHRN) pupil surveys; (ii) Transitions (from EY settings to schools and from primary 

to secondary); (iii) Communication of mental health / wellbeing support and services.

P
age 65



Last Year’s Ambitions
Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Provide access to a 
range of professional 
learning and support to 
develop high-quality 
teaching and learning 
across all schools which 
leads to improved 
outcomes that are 
sustained over time.

• All schools within Monmouthshire have access to a wide range of Professional Learning in the areas of Leadership and Pedagogy, 
Wellbeing and Curriculum.

• The EAS PL offer includes an extensive range of leadership programmes for school leaders, at all levels including aspiring 
headteachers, middle leaders, NQTs and teaching assistants.

• Over the past eighteen months many of these programmes are well attended, with the Assessment and Progression Network, 
Aspiring HLTA programme and NQT Professional Learning, being the most popular.

• Professional Learning for Wellbeing includes training on whole school approaches to mental health, RADY and support for 
wellbeing leads. Wellbeing networks and training have not been well attended over the past eighteen months.

• Since Autumn 2021, an average of 50.6 teachers from Monmouthshire schools have attended EAS professional learning 
compared to an average of 53.5 teachers across all schools in the region.

P
age 66



Last Year’s Ambitions
Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Ensure our schools have 
access to high-quality 
professional learning, advice 
and guidance to develop a 
bespoke curriculum that 
engages and inspires all 
learners to develop the skills 
they need for employment 
and life-long learning.

The EAS provide a comprehensive package of professional learning to support the local authority, schools and educational 
settings to develop key aspects of their work.

This includes the provision of:
• bespoke support to promote cluster working through a high support, high challenge model to create an effective 

learning organisation across Monmouthshire.
• leadership briefings and curriculum networks to strengthen leadership and teaching across the whole workforce 

to support the effective learning environment across the county.
• professional learning as part of a Learning Network Schools model to support schools and settings to realise the 

Curriculum for Wales within their context.
• complimentary professional learning and support for health, wellbeing and equity with a sharp focus on improving 

outcomes for vulnerable and disadvantaged learners.
• facilitating events to share good practice across all areas of learning and leadership
• school improvement partner support for school self-evaluation activities

As a result, in most schools:
• The curriculum is developed purposefully with many activities designed to raise aspiration for all learners.
• Rich authentic learning experiences are developed successfully to engage and excite all learners.
• Effective provision is impacting positively on the wellbeing of disadvantaged learners.

P
age 67



Last Year’s Ambitions
Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Provide bespoke advice and 
guidance to our schools to 
ensure a wide range of 
learners receive high-quality 
additional needs provision 
through the new ALN & 
Tribunal Act.

• The Inclusion Team offer a wide range of advice and guidance directly to schools to ensure high-quality ALN provision. The development of the 

online Training Portal for schools has been positive in ensuring information and training is easily disseminated/ shared.

• The Local Authority ALN Statutory Service provided comprehensive support advice and training to schools and governing bodies to ensure a 

smooth transition to the new ALN system. All schools and Early Years settings were prepared for their new responsibilities under the Act through 

targeted training and regular online Q&A sessions supported by the ALN Implementation Lead, the ALN Statutory Team and EY Advisory 

Teachers.

• Additional Learning Needs Co-ordinators (ALNCos) have been asked to complete questionnaires on bi-annual basis to report on their status within 

the school, time allocation to do the role & training needs. Regular ALNCO Cluster meetings are effective forums to discuss implementation issues 

and problem solve, ALN Statutory Officers & EPs often attend these meeting. Questionnaires are collated and information used to inform support 

for individual ALNCOs and training requirements.

• The ALN Statutory Team are working with Capita as they develop a new IT system to support the processes and procedures related to the 

implementation of the ALN Act. The majority of schools have adopted the Edukey system and are using this to support the IDP process and inform 

provision mapping.

• The ALN Statutory Officers, EPS, MoSTS, Vulnerable Learner Lead (VLL) and EST officers are all accessible and all have regular planned/ unplanned 

engagement with schools to discuss issues of concerns and to gain bespoke advice and guidance for learners. This allows for early intervention 

and prevention of escalation of issues which is especially important when supporting children/ young people at risk of exclusion or 

disengagement.

• Since the new VLL Officer and Education Support Team have been in place, we can offer responsive, clear and detailed advice to schools on a 

range of issues with a particular focus on supporting pupils at risk of exclusion and those who are CLA. It is too early to measure the impact of the 

much of this work but feedback from schools/ settings has been positive.

• Often this proactive advisory work is completed in partnership with other officers, such as H&S and safeguarding colleagues to support schools to 

use their awareness of disadvantaged learners with the input of parent/carers and other professionals to enable ALN, including emotional and 

mental health needs, to be met safely.

P
age 68



Last Year’s Ambitions

Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Provide bespoke advice and 
guidance to our schools to 
ensure a wide range of 
learners receive high-quality 
additional needs provision 
through the new ALN & 
Tribunal Act.

Training - There is a raft of advice and guidance available to schools via training opportunities bespoke to schools/ settings, or as

part of authority wide roll out.

• One example is the partnership working with the Autism Education Trust (AET) and the National Autistic Society (NAS) since 
January 2022 as a response to the high number of autistic children and young people in our schools and settings. The 
commissioned MCC Autism in Schools and Settings project aims to develop a whole authority approach to building the 
capacity of the workforce to support children and young people with autism. The intended outcome is to improve access to, 
and the experience of, education for autistic children and young people in Monmouthshire - to ensure it is more positive and 
inclusive. We are currently in the process of rolling out the first round of training for SRB staff and key local authority officers 
who provide support/ outreach into our schools and settings. This is important to ensure a robust and consistent approach to 
autism across MCC and is necessary to future workforce development in schools and settings in the future. An Autism 
Champions group has been established to help develop materials for mainstream schools. The impact of this project will be 
closely monitored and evaluated.

• Training was provided to Children’s Social Care in preparation for the new responsibilities under the Act with regard learners 
who are Children Looked After (CLA) with ALN with regards to a combined IDP/PEP. Recently the development of the 
Designated CLA Leads in School Network has been well attended by schools, and other MCC representatives across 
directorates to allow for a more coherent, consistent and coordinated approach to meeting the needs of learners who are CLA, 
former CLA or at risk of becoming CLA.

P
age 69



Last Year’s Ambitions
Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Build the skills and 
expertise of schools to 
improve attendance 
recovery and levels of 
exclusion to reduce 
barriers to learning for 
vulnerable pupils.

Promoting attendance at School

• Education Welfare Service (EWS) Lead appointed to co-ordinate the work of the teams and to prepare the local authority and

schools for the implementation of new statutory guidance for EHE and the 'Belonging, engaging and participating – Guidance

on improving Learner Engagement and Attendance’ which is currently at the consultation stage.

• Education Welfare Officers (EWO) hold attendance consultations with secondary schools fortnightly and every half term with

primary schools to ensure that the impact of support for complex cases is reviewed regularly and emerging concerns are

identified. Consultations are offered more frequently as required.

• EWO provide bespoke support for families in a range of ways. For example, they provide wellbeing visits, mediation between

home and schools to overcome barriers to good attendance, attend school meetings with parent to support them in sharing

their views, they make wellbeing homes visits. Where appropriate they also attend CASP, core group and CP conferences.

• The Elective Home Education (EHE) officers maintain regular contact with EHE families throughout the year through home visits

and engagement events. They provide examination advice and support and next steps advice as required. They support EHE

learners back into the school environment , both state and independent, where appropriate.

• EWS has established effective links with other services and agencies supporting learners and families, and particularly with

inclusion services within CYP. Where appropriate EWO make referrals to Childrens' Services where there are safeguarding

concerns.

P
age 70



Last Year’s Ambitions

Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Build the skills and 
expertise of schools to 
improve attendance 
recovery and levels of 
exclusion to reduce 
barriers to learning for 
vulnerable pupils.

• EWS provide advice and guidance to schools regarding attendance issues such as appropriate coding, flexi-schooling and persistent

absence.

• During the last year, the EWS team have attended training for Trauma Informed Schools (TIS), Suicide Awareness and Community Focused

Schools. This ensures that the advice we give to schools in these areas is consistent with advice from Inclusion.

Reducing levels of exclusions

• Since the appointment of a new Vulnerable Learner Lead, and the development of the role to sit within the Inclusion team, there has been 

a renewed and more focused universal offer of advice, guidance and monitoring with regards to managing exclusions, supporting learners 

at risk of exclusion and supporting their inclusion and admissions.

• This work also aims to ensure awareness and compliance with Public Sector Equality Act obligations, and Disability Discrimination Act 

requirements as well as supporting Health and Safety and Safeguarding obligations and the Welsh Government commitment to reducing 

restrictive practices in schools.

• As part of this offer, a robust suite of training is being offered to ensure that all LA officers and schools are confident of the expectations 

when a learner is at risk of exclusion, in terms of understanding of a range of graduated responses such as Pastoral Support Plans, reduced 

timetables, and reasonable adjustments. This includes ensuring that where learners are excluded, the process of pupil disciplinary hearings 

is fair and robustly considers if an exclusion was avoidable or not.

• It is too early to see an impact of this early work from the VLL but feedback from schools suggests an increase in confidence when 

supporting our most vulnerable learners in schools/ settings.

P
age 71



Last Year’s Ambitions

Our Ambition: What have we done to realise this?

Build the skills and 
expertise of schools to 
improve attendance 
recovery and levels of 
exclusion to reduce 
barriers to learning for 
vulnerable pupils.

Developing capacity in schools to meet a range of needs through ongoing programmes/ work including:

• Emotional Literacy Support Assistants (ELSA) - The EPS continue to offer initial ELSA training, supervision & CPD. 47 new ELSAs trained 

2020-22. During the pandemic, a blended training model allowed this support to continue. Now all MCC schools (bar one) have at least 

one trained ELSA supporting pupils, in total we have around 70 active ELSAs making daily impact on the lives of numerous pupils.

• Trauma Informed Schools (TIS) approaches continue to be embedded across MCC. Training has been well received by our schools and
evaluations are positive. Over 220 staff across our schools as well as a range of service areas have completed the TIS Training, with 55 
senior leaders accessing the 2 day training and a number have completed the TIS Diploma. TIS reflects the relational model of 
understanding children/ young people presenting with behaviours of concern and focuses on raising the awareness and capacity of adults 
supporting vulnerable pupils. This relational model underpins much of the work within the broader inclusion team and within our
schools. 100% agreed or strongly agreed that they felt more confident in supporting CYP, including those who have experienced trauma or 
mental health difficulties.

• Emotionally Based School Avoidance (EBSA) Project provides an embedded training and support programme for school staff, and other 

professionals supporting CYP who are struggling to attend school. The aim is to support early and effective intervention to assess and 

intervene in the most timely and helpful way, to prevent entrenched EBSA and promote positive outcomes. We continue to offer 

Introduction to EBSA training, online consultations, EBSA Guidance and Resources and bespoke EBSA training has been delivered into all 

four secondary schools. EBSA training has been attended by a range of school staff; Health Professionals; and professionals from a range of 

services across MCC. Feedback continues to be very positive.

• Access to Education Other That At School (EOTAS) - In response to the lengthy associated times to access CAMHS support, the requirement 

for accessing EOTAS provision broadened to include MCC Educational Psychologist reports. This has ensured a reduction in the potential 

period of time that a CYP has to wait for EOTAS provision if they are experiencing significant EBSA and are not currently able to access 

school-based provision.

P
age 72



Our Provision
The services we offer and the difference they make

P
age 73



Early Years Provision

I was once reminded (a little forcefully) by a 
colleague that children are not born when they start 
school!

The early years work that is undertaken by the local 
authority and its partners in ABUHB, our non-
maintained settings and the EAS is significant to the 
future success of our children.

This is not just to ensure the best start for learners 
themselves, but also their families who need support 
with childcare and parenting.

The provision of the new King Henry VIII 3-19 school 
in Abergavenny has been built around the idea that 
the community will be able to access supportive 
services from pre-natal to the start of school.

P
age 74



Flying Start 

Flying Start continues to deliver a high standard of parenting 
support both in and out of the target areas through our 0 to 7 
Request for Support Panel.   

The Flying Start team consists of:

• Commissioned Health Visiting service

• Speech and Language Therapist

• Early Years Play Therapist

• Child and Adolescent Psychotherapist

• Two Dads Advisors

• An Early Years Practitioner team delivering child development and 
parenting interventions

The child development support includes a registered Portage 
service which sits within MCC’s Flying Start programme.   
Portage is a home-visiting educational service for pre-school 
children with developmental delay or disability, and their 
families.

The Early Years Dads’ Advisors are providing support to Dads 
with children aged 0 to 7 across Monmouthshire. Their role is 
also to raise the awareness of the importance of the role of 
fathers across agencies working in Monmouthshire.

Phase 1 of the Flying Start expansion (full programme) has 
completed and now includes Rogiet and St Christopher’s LSOAs.

Phase 2 of the Flying Start Childcare expansion commences in 
April 2023 and aims to provide fully funded childcare to an 
additional 77 two-year-olds in the Abergavenny, Llanfoist, 
Monmouth and Goytre areas. This is a phased expansion that 
continues to target areas identified by utilising WG and DWP 
data. In 2024/25, we will continue to expand the Flying Start 
Childcare using a phased approach to all two-year-olds in 
Monmouthshire. This universal service will be fully funded 
through the Flying Start revenue grant.

P
age 75



Estyn Early Years Outcomes

In Monmouthshire, early education is delivered through a combination of maintained and non-maintained settings. We currently 
have 12 maintained nurseries within primary schools and 25 non-maintained settings.  This balance of provision is rare across Wales 
with a larger than normal non-maintained sector.  Non-maintained settings are approved to provide early education and supported by 
Advisory Teachers appointed by the EAS and LA Officers within the Early Years Team.

Offering early education places in both maintained and non-maintained settings and allowing parents to choose where they take this 
up is a particular strength of our practice.

Since the introduction of the Childcare Offer, more children are accessing early education in non-maintained settings and this 
difference has increased in the last two years. During 2022-23, 57% of children received early education in a non-maintained setting, 
compared to 43% in a maintained nursery in a school.

Our non-maintained settings have adapted positively to the Curriculum for Wales and provide a high quality of care and education, as 
evidenced in recent inspection reports.

There have been seven joint Estyn and CIW inspections during 2022/23 and all inspections were positive with no areas of non-
compliance. Two settings had excellent practice identified and were asked to produce a best practice case study.

We continue to work with settings to ensure training is rolled out to all members of staff and to utilise additional funding (such as 
RRRS and EYDG) effectively to continue to raise standards for all children.

We are concerned that non-maintained settings will be forced to close in the future due to the lack of qualified childcare staff. There 
is also a risk that the number of children attending maintained nurseries will continue to drop as parents return to work and need 
wraparound childcare and, if this is the case, it may result in financial difficulties for schools with nurseries.

P
age 76



Our Schools 

As set out in the Introduction and earlier parts of this report, 
Monmouthshire’s schools are working in a volatile period. They are still 
experiencing the ‘tail’ of the pandemic while grappling with staff turnover 
and budget pressures.

Alongside this, they have worked hard to ensure learners return to school 
and that exclusions are minimised as far as is possible. These can be 
intensive activities that absorb professionals’ energy alongside the 
development of the Curriculum for Wales and the ALN reforms.

Beyond these totemic reforms there are a litany of other initiatives and 
developments that schools have to respond to. As well as the ongoing 
focus on developing new pedagogical approaches to improve the 
standards of teaching and learning in our schools.

For many learners, key transitions have been missed or substantially 
altered and this impact is still evident in all schools, particularly the 
absence of early education and socialisation.

This broken landscape in which we work has led to inconsistency and 
variability across the schooling system which makes it difficult to provide a 
single, cogent view of the schools in Monmouthshire.

The pandemic changed the experiences and expectations of both our staff 
and pupils.  The experiences of school leaders, teachers and support 
teams are now very different to those pre-2020.  The system has had to 
take time to adjust and recognise this.  However, at the same time the 
external requirements of inspection and formal external exams remain 
broadly the same.  Whilst the adaptations to the Estyn inspection 
framework should be recognised and applauded it still represents a 
challenge for schools.  

Across the 35 settings in Monmouthshire the experience of learners and 
staff will have been different and there will be a variable impact on 
different settings.  We have sought to take a proportionate and informed 
approach to engaging with schools – seeking a supportive approach but 
one that recognises constructive and developmental challenge must be 
retained in the system.

P
age 77



Estyn quantifiers and what they mean

When we write about provision and 
standards in our schools you will 
notice a pattern of language that is 
used to describe and quantify the 
impact, or the number of learners 
affected. This is consistent with 
language used by Estyn in many 
inspection reports.

• nearly all = with very few 
exceptions 

• most = 90% 

• many = 70% or more 

• a majority = over 60% 

• half = 50% 

• around half = close to 50% 

• a minority = below 40% 

• few = below 20% 

• very few = less than 10%

P
age 78



Estyn Inspection Outcomes
Prior to the pandemic there were no Monmouthshire schools in any form of 

follow-up. Estyn suspended its standard inspections in spring 2020 but 

continued to maintain contact with schools through a series of Engagement 

calls visits until Estyn inspections resumed in the summer term 2022.

At the start of the pandemic, local authority suspended iwork n schools. SIP 

work continued with on-line and telephone contact. Most SIPs re-

established school visits where possible during the spring tern 2022, but this 

was variable, and influenced by contextual factors such as COVID-19 

infection rates. COVID was a continued factor for both the school receiving 

and providing support.

By the time inspections recommenced in summer 2022, the local authority 

had limited knowledge and evidence of the situation in many of its schools.

During the pandemic, Estyn reviewed their approach to inspection to reflect 

changes to reporting requirements and give schools confidence to develop 

and implement a contextual curriculum in line with the Curriculum for Wales. 

As part of this review, Estyn removed overall judgements. This means that 

schools now receive a narrative report only.

Since inspections resumed, nine primary schools and two secondary 

schools in Monmouthshire have been inspected with the following outcomes

as detailed in the table to the right.

School Date Follow-up Case studies

Dewstow May 22 Special measures No

St Mary’s R.C. June 22 No follow-up Yes 1

The Dell June 22 No follow-up No

Gilwern October 22 Estyn Review No

King Henry VIII November 23 Significant Improvement No

Castle Park December 22 No follow-up No

Llanfoist January 23 No follow-up No

Llanvihangel January 23 No follow-up No

Monmouth February 23 No follow-up Yes 2

Cantref* April 23

Undy * May 23

P
age 79



Estyn Inspection Outcomes
What are the strengths of our practice and how do we know?

Since inspections resumed, nine primary schools and two secondary schools in Monmouthshire have been inspected: Whilst this is 

almost a third of Monmouthshire schools, it may not be representative of all schools in Monmouthshire. 

Although the inspection process is rigorous, it can only capture a snapshot of a school at the time of the inspection. However, in 

many cases, Estyn’s evaluation of schools’ match with our evaluation, wholly or in part. Where they do not, this is a consequence of 

having limited access to schools during the pandemic and particularly in relation to monitoring standards, review books and 

speaking to learners. As we have been able to increase our engagement and visits to schools, the alignment of our PIR and Estyn 

findings has improved.

The following themes have been identified in the nine primary schools and two secondary schools inspected in Monmouthshire (It is 

also influenced by the three schools in Estyn follow-up or in an Estyn category):

• The majority of leaders know their school well; they provide strong leadership; they are clear about the strengths and areas for

improvement, and they work effectively with partners to fulfil the vision for the school.

• Provision for wellbeing and its impact on pupils and staff is a strong feature in nearly all schools.

• Most schools have a clear vision for the curriculum. They are making good progress towards developing a curriculum that 

reflects the aspiration of the new Curriculum for Wales.

P
age 80



Estyn Inspection Outcomes

• Many schools ensure pupils have worthwhile opportunities to develop a range of skills. As a result, the majority of pupils make 

good progress during their time in school with a minority making strong progress.

• Behaviour in many schools is good and supports learning well.

• There are positive relationships between staff and pupils in nearly all schools. The positive ethos in many schools enables 

pupils to develop confidence and self-assurance well.

• Many schools have effective arrangements to provide support to vulnerable pupils and many make good progress.

• Pupils of all ages have beneficial opportunities to develop leaderships skills in most schools.

• Overall, schools provide a welcoming environment where pupils feel safe and secure.

• Generally, pupil’s attitudes to learning are good, pupil voice is strong, and wellbeing is good. As a result, many children enjoy 

going to school.

• In a few primary schools, the development of Welsh language and culture is a strength.

• Schools make effective use of grants to support progress and wellbeing.

• Many governors have a good understanding of their role and discharge their duties effectively.

• No safeguarding concerns have been raised, and in many schools, there is a strong culture of safeguarding.

P
age 81



Estyn Inspection Outcomes
Our next steps

• Alongside our routine work, we commissioned a review of all schools using the Celebrate, Support, Share and Refine 

(CSSR) model. The review commenced in the spring term and to date, 16 schools out of 35 have participated in this 

review.

• However, following the implementation of ASOS many of the remaining schools have postponed visits until the 

industrial action is over. This is having a significant impact on our ability to understand the current strengths and areas 
for improvement in all of our schools and ensure that the support we are providing is suitable and effective.

• We compare the CSSR outcomes and trends with those identified by Estyn and use them to identify key priorities for 
our school system and we will continue to review Estyn inspection outcomes and provide support accordingly.

• We provide intensive support to schools in Estyn follow-up to ensure they have the support and capacity they need to 
address their recommendations in a timely manner

Remaining Risks

• A prolonged period of industrial action would mean that we could return to a position similar to the one we faced 

during the pandemic, where we did not have sufficient engagement with our schools to know them well. The means 

that in the future, schools in need of specific support will not have received it and our pre-inspection reports may not 

align well with Estyn inspection outcomes. If this is the case, the impact on progress and standards and professional 

learning could be significant.

P
age 82



Historically, the level of attendance in Monmouthshire schools is good and amongst 

the highest in Wales. Attendance in primary schools between 2013 and 2019 has 

been consistently over 95.4% compared to a Wales average of 94.6%, and over 

94.4% in secondary schools compared to 94.4% across Wales. However, since the 

pandemic, levels of attendance have fallen in our schools and across Wales.

Attendance

Attendance in Primary Schools

• At the end of the academic year 2018/19, attendance across Monmouthshire 

primary schools was 95.4%. This was the last full year for attendance figures until 

2021/22 when pupils returned to schools in September 2021 following extended 

periods of school closure during the pandemic.

• The pandemic had a significant impact on attendance in all our schools and at the 

start of 2021/22, attendance in primary schools showed a decline of 3.6pp overall 

and this continued throughout the academic year. However, attendance of eFSM

pupils fell by 4.5pp during the same period.

• Currently we are beginning to see an increase in attendance levels in primary 

schools and returning towards pre-pandemic levels for all pupils. Whilst this is also 

true for eFSM pupils, the rate of recovery is slower.

• There is a wide range of reasons for non-attendance which has increased because 

of the pandemic. The EWS team provide support and advice for schools on a 

range of educational strategies that can contribute to improving attendance.

• Welsh Ministers are currently consulting on a new attendance framework and 

the EWS will be supporting schools to develop their approach to securing good 

attendance in the light of changes.

• Estyn reports that attendance strategies are effective in all seven primary schools 

inspected since the summer term 2022.

P
age 83



Attendance
Attendance in Secondary Schools

• At the end of the academic year 2018/19, attendance across Monmouthshire secondary 

schools was 95.0%. This was the last full year for attendance figures until 2021/22 when 

pupils returned to schools in September 2021 following extended periods of school closure 

during the pandemic.

• The pandemic had a significant impact on attendance in all our schools and at the start 

of 2021/22, attendance in secondary schools showed a decline of 6.9 pp and whilst there 

was a small improvement to 6.6pp by the end of the year, the overall decline was 

significant. Unlike the primary sector, secondary school data is showing that an 

improvement in attendance is much slower and consequently it will take much longer to 

return to pre-pandemic levels of attendance.

• Anxiety is a main factor for non-attendance in secondary schools which is exacerbated by 

long waiting lists for assessments and interventions from supportive services. However, 

there are a range of reasons for non-attendance in secondary schools and not all related to 

the impact of the pandemic such as EOTAS provision and the complexity of cases is far 

greater than in primary schools.

• EWS provides on-going advice and guidance on implementing early intervention, 
developing an attendance strategy plan and being pro-active in their approach to support.

• Whilst the decline in attendance overall is significant; the 9.8pp decline in eFSM

attendance is even more substantial. Data is showing that it is much slower to recover, 

showing an improvement of just 0.8pp over the last two years. The reasons for eFSM non-

attendance are broadly the same as those for all pupils but this group is more likely to be 

impacted by additional factors such as ALN or being a young carer.

• Estyn identified short-comings in attendance in both secondary schools inspected during 

the year. EWS are supporting both to develop strategies to address these areas.

• EWS will be supporting schools to develop their approach to securing good attendance in 
the light of changes in the new attendance framework.

P
age 84



Supporting Disadvantaged 
Learners
This has been a key focus for our schools, the Directorate and our partners.  The 
next section provides greater detail regarding our efforts in this area.

P
age 85



Supporting Disadvantaged learners
The Why:

Monmouthshire is often perceived as an affluent county and in many regards, it is however there are currently 27% of children living in poverty (Wales 
34%). Our schools have seen a consistent increase in the number of learners eligible for free school meals (eFSM). Our average eFSM is 18% but the 
range is from 5% to 48%.

The drive to mitigate the impact of poverty on education is clear in our national, regional and local policy drivers: the National Mission and its key theme 
around ‘Breaking down barriers’; the EAS’s business plan cites the support for vulnerable learners and the Community and Corporate Plan in 
Monmouthshire seeks to create ‘A learning Place’ where there is ‘A truly inclusive educational system that recognises learners’ starting points, strengths 
and educational needs’.

There has also been recent research that identifies that not only are over 25% of our students impacted by poverty but also that Monmouthshire has 
some more unique characteristics regarding inequality in small, localised communities. An analysis of the difference between the highest and lowest 
levels of income in Monmouthshire’s Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) shows that Monmouthshire has amongst the most extreme ranges in Wales.

The What:

We are seeking to create:

‘A bespoke localised approach to promoting equity and achievement for all’

We believe that this localised and contextual approach is the most appropriate means of closing the achievement gap. Local schools, their leaders and 
their staff are best placed to understand their communities and deliver approaches and interventions to support their learners.

P
age 86



Disadvantaged learners
The How: 

Every Monmouthshire School will:

• Identify a senior leader responsible for tackling poverty and raising the achievement of vulnerable learners

• Identify a Governor responsible for tackling poverty and raising the achievement of vulnerable learners

• Tackling Poverty will be in every school’s School development Plan

• Every School will develop a strategy / plan

• Cluster working to enhance and equalise learner’s experiences at transition will be a key component

We will ensure that there is a process for continual improvement and awareness raising by building on the Tackling Aspects of

Poverty Programme provided by the Education Achievement Service (this was directed by the LA and over 80% of schools 

have engaged).  This structured reflective practice and information sharing approach will allow all settings to learn from each 

other and become more sophisticated in their approaches.

We will also advocate that all schools engage in the Tackling the Impact of Poverty on Education Programme to provide a 

further baseline of understanding.

P
age 87



Disadvantaged learners

The Home to School Continuum

All leaders recognise that school have a key role to play in tackling poverty but that this is a wider consideration across all of 

the services that the Authority offers. For our schools we want them to understand the impacts of poverty and the 

differential lived experiences of their learners. Our professional learning offer, facilitated by the EAS and colleagues in 

Monmouthshire has four different tiers:

The Community – Community Focused Schools / Family and Community Engagement

The Learner’s Experiences – Understanding Adverse Childhood Experiences and developing our Trauma Informed Practice

School Wide Activity – Thinking Differently (the RADY Toolkit), Sutton Trust Toolkit

Classroom Practice – ‘Supporting vulnerable learners through effective teaching and learning’ and a wide range of bespoke 

teaching and learning support commissioned through the EAS.

We want our learners to be ‘As ready to learn as they can be’, we know that teachers and school support staff go beyond to 

support learners, we want to make sure that all our learners have the best possible chance to succeed.

P
age 88



Community Focused Schools

Children and young people learn more effectively when they are happy, healthy and safe. Schools across 
Monmouthshire do an incredible job in supporting learners to be their best. However, schools cannot work 
alone in helping children and young people reach their full potential, as educational outcomes do not depend 
only on schools.

Outcomes are also influenced by factors including poverty, family circumstances, housing and health. Research 
shows that this range of factors can negatively affect children and young people’s wellbeing and their ability to 
learn and achieve in school. The WLGA and WG ‘Narrowing the Gap’ project showed that schools that are at 
the heart of the local community have improved outcomes for all their children; as well as enhanced wellbeing 
for their local community – supporting communities in becoming more resilient.

The role of Community Focused Schools (CFS) Lead is crucial in working with schools and all our partners to 
develop these activities and relationships for the benefit of the whole school community. The CFS role is very 
different to that of Family Liaison Officer, who also plays a vital role, but tends to work with individual families 
on issues like attendance.

P
age 89



Community Focused Schools

The underlying philosophy is in capturing the wonderful social capital that exists within the 
wider Monmouthshire community and harnessing it for the benefit of the whole school. 
For example: 

• Building relationships with children, families, carers and the local community like churches, local 
businesses, third sector groups and care homes

• Supporting schools by signposting families to local community support – and in accessing support 
they’re entitled to such as benefits

• Working with Future First in order to develop alumni networks in our schools, who can then share 
their journeys to a career and inspire younger pupils from similar backgrounds/areas/experiences

• Securing grants to support experiences – such as purchasing cooking equipment to facilitate skill 
learning experiences for families to help with the cost of living crisis and uniform swaps (linked to 
helping the environment, not specifically to help the ‘poor’ – this helps to overcome stigma and 
shame of receiving help)

P
age 90



Community Focused Schools and 
disadvantaged learners
We are working alongside the Education Achievement Service (EAS) on Tackling All Aspects of Poverty (TAP) 
and developing a whole authority strategy on supporting disadvantaged learners, including:

• Poverty Proofing our schools with a focus on reducing the cost of the school day, recognising that 
every penny and pound matter to many families

• Cost of living crisis support sessions around the county at accessible venues and pop-up events in 
schools

• Breakfast club funding made available for secondary schools to support pupils in starting the day off 
positively – helps with checking-in too with vulnerable young people to see how they’re doing

• Providing a hardship fund to offer relief for families suffering from lack of resources like food, 
clothing or other essential material goods

• Addressing the learning gap that sometimes grows over the summer – signposting to holiday hunger 
schemes such as MonLife’s Food and Fun Clubs

P
age 91



Specialist

Targeted

Universal

Community Focused Schools and 
disadvantaged learners

Universal provision can include: 
• Cost of the school day support
• Community focused schools
• Whole school approach to 

wellbeing
• Trauma informed schools
• Love 

Specialist approaches can include:
• SPACE referrals
• Play therapy
• Bespoke Maths and English sessions
• Vulnerable learner leads
• Education Support Team
• School farm 

Targeted approach can include:
• ELSA
• Roots of empathy
• Circle of security
• Nurture provision 
• Breakfast clubs
• Family learning
• Incredible Years
• MIND Monmouthshire’s Active 

Monitoring for Young People

Marmot talks about proportionate 
universalism, which is an approach 
that balances targeted and universal 
support through action proportionate 
to needs and levels of disadvantage in 
a population. Through more universal 
activities, we can also overcome issues 
of stigma and shame in seeking help.

P
age 92



Disadvantaged learners –
EAS focused supported self-evaluation

Countywide strengths in supporting disadvantaged learners

Many school leaders share a clear strategic vision for improving teaching and learning for all learners throughout the school, including vulnerable and disadvantaged 

learners.

In many schools, leaders know their pupils well and ensure that they are well supported to meet their individual needs. For example, at Undy Primary School, weekly 

learner reviews provide opportunities for learners to discuss their learning and progress with their teachers, this is helpful in identifying areas of difficulty or concerns 

moving forward.

In a minority of schools, leaders have identified that following the pandemic, eFSM pupils are demonstrating greater resilience than their non-FSM counterparts.

PDG/EYPDG and LA PDG grant funding is appropriately allocated and supports pupils’ progress and wellbeing. In many schools, funding is used for staff training on 

intervention, support and well-being programmes, additional staff to support the delivery of these programmes, and an investment in resources

In most schools, disadvantaged learners demonstrate good progress from their starting points. With appropriate support and/or tailored provision, the standards achieved 

by disadvantaged learners are in line with those who are not disadvantaged.

In Llandogo Primary School, strong progress has been reported in relation to attitudes to learning and behaviour, particularly for vulnerable pupils, who are better able to 

self-regulate.

Many schools a range of additional support for disadvantaged learners, where appropriate. This support is tailored to meet the needs of pupils and is either individual or 

small group depending on the extent of need. Where this is most effective, leaders use a range of data to inform provision for disadvantaged learners, for example PASS 

survey, literacy and numeracy assessments.

Effective provision is impacting positively on the wellbeing of disadvantaged learners in many schools for example, a play therapist and wellbeing dog are employed to 

meet the needs of pupils who identify with wellbeing concerns on a diagnostic assessment in Goytre Primary School.

P
age 93



Disadvantaged learners -
EAS focused supported self-evaluation

Pupil progress is monitored half-termly through regular pupil progress reviews in many schools. The impact of these professional discussions has been to improve the 

accuracy of the monitoring of pupil progress. Learners who are not making expected progress are allocated to catch up programmes or to additional support, where 

appropriate. These programmes include support for literacy, numeracy and wellbeing and have clear entry and exit points. Effective tracking systems monitor individual pupil 

progress over a specified time-period.

Most schools are developing their curriculum with the needs of disadvantaged learners in mind. As a result, there are many activities designed to raise the aspirations of 

learners for example, at Osbaston Primary Schools, a Careers Week, featured visits to school from members of the local community, representing a wide range of careers 

providing rich authentic learning opportunities such as, a veterinary surgeon, motoring journalist and paramedic.

Castle Park Primary and Kymin View Primary schools have engaged fully with the Raising the Achievement of Disadvantaged Youngsters (RADY) programme. Kymin View 

(now in year 2 of RADY) have completed Recorded RADY and are undertaking bespoke support to begin the process of embedding RADY principles and strategies across 

their curriculum, planning and policies.

Castle Park Primary (now in year 3 of RADY) have embedded the RADY approach as a golden thread across all aspects of school development and have undertaken bespoke 

support to sustain their embedded practise. Castle Park offers support to other RADY schools and shares their good practice through RADY regional network meetings.

The largest amount of grant expenditure across the LA (76%), in both primary and secondary schools, is used to aligned fund additional staffing posts to support 

disadvantaged and vulnerable learners. Some of those named posts include:

• Family Liaison Officers

• Learning coaches/mentors

• Attendance Officers

• Intervention programmes delivered by support staff

P
age 94



Developing an Inclusive 
Educational Service

P
age 95



Inclusion
The creation of the new Head of Service for Inclusion role has afforded the 

opportunity to pull together a new CYP ‘Inclusion Team’ made up of the key 

professionals supporting our most vulnerable children/young people.  The 

Inclusion Team consists of:

• Additional Learning Needs (ALN)
• Educational Psychology Service (EPS)
• Pupil Referral Service (PRS)
• the newly appointed Vulnerable Learners Lead,  and 
• The Healthy Settings Service

The Head of Service: Inclusion role has given a clear focus to the notion of MCC 

as an inclusive authority, with the aspiration that all CYP have the opportunity to 

remain in their local communities and schools.

We are working across the team to increase the capacity of our schools/ settings 

to meet the varied and often intertwined complex needs of CYP.  

We are keen to develop greater understanding of our expectations around 

certain elements of inclusive practice e.g. enhancing the understanding of, and 

provision required to meet the needs of vulnerable CYP such as those with 

autism, or emotionally based school avoidance (EBSA), or children looked after/ 

care experienced pupils who have experienced developmental/ relational 

trauma.

The Inclusion Team is collaborating to develop/ improve existing systems, 

identify gaps and overlaps to ensure that we are consistent, coherent and 

effective in meeting the needs of our most vulnerable CYP.  The Inclusion team is 

committed to the following principles. 

• Early identification, intervention and prevention where needs are identified 

and provision put in place at the earliest opportunity and where possible 

interventions are put in place to prevent the development or escalation of 

ALN. 

• Collaboration and integration where services work together to ensure ALN 

are identified early and appropriate co-ordinated support is put in place to 

enable children and young people to achieve positive expectations, 

experiences and outcomes. 

• Inclusive education where the majority of children and young people with 

ALN are supported to participate fully in mainstream education and a 

whole setting approach is taken to meeting the needs of learners with ALN. 

(Chapter 3 ALN Code).                  

P
age 96



Inclusion: ALN Implementation

• The ALN Service has worked collaboratively with regional partners, schools, settings and 

families to effectively implement the new procedures identified in the ALNET Act. 

• To support school’s ability to effectively manage their responsibilities under the ALN Act, 

ALN funding was delegated to schools under an agreed funding formula from April 2022. 

• A Contingency Panel has been established to support schools with unexpected ALN 
pressures. A review of the funding formula is currently underway.

• An MCC ‘Provision Pyramid’ was developed to support schools plan a graduated response to 
their responsibilities under the ALN Act. The Provision Pyramid has been used extensively in 
training with schools / ALNCOs & has been adopted by schools to demonstrate the 
continuum of provision as part of their ALN offer.

• A school Quality Assurance ‘task and finish group’ has been established and a QA process 
drafted. 

Risks include:

• Possible increased challenge from schools in relation to their perceived ability to provide 

Additional Learning Provision (ALP) through the development of a school based Individual 

Development Plan (IDP).  This could lead to more LA IDPs, there is currently no budget to 

fund provision identified in LA IDP. 

• Post -16 provision – the demand for independent college placements and reduction in the 

grant from WG.  To mitigate this we are working in collaboration with schools and other 

relevant partners to develop a coherent 14-19 strategy for ALN learners.

P
age 97



Inclusion – ALN Specialist Provision
Our model of specialist provision, places specialist  resource bases (SRBs) at the heart of 
identified mainstream schools. This model;

• Ensures that children and young people remain close to their communities.

• Provides opportunities for integration and inclusion with mainstream peers in 
structured and unstructured times. Mainstream pupils have the opportunity to 
become mentors for learners in SRBs and develop a greater sense of tolerance, 
empathy and understanding. 

• Supports the development of social relationships which can create long-lasting 
friendships that can give SRB pupils the skills to navigate social relationships later in 
life.

• Promotes an inclusive culture where the families of learners with ALN benefit by 
being integrated more easily into the broader school community. Having a SRB 
within a mainstream school can reduce stigma about ALN and positively contribute 
to a society that is more accepting of differences and people with disabilities.

The focus on inclusion is clear in the continued development of a closer network/ 
consistent model of specialist provision across the SRBs in MCC alongside the 
expectations of the ALN reforms.  

The work in this area consists of continual workforce development (such as the Autism 
in Schools and Settings Project), improvements in SRB learning environments and an 
improved curriculum offer.  

We continue to strengthen our outreach model to mainstream schools through the 
continued use of SRB staff and the new Education Support Team.

A Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) approach is being developed in collaboration with 
Health. This will be used initially to support pupils in SRB settings but will be rolled out 
to mainstream schools. 

• In 2020-21, all SRB settings benefited from significant investment in their 
infrastructure and resources. 

• In 2021-22 further grant funding was allocated to support the development of 
outdoor equipment, sensory rooms, IT and resources.

• In response to increased demand for primary SRB places in September 2021, an SRB 
class was opened in Deri View. 

• In the summer term 2022 agreement was reached to expand provision in Pembroke 
SRB by 4 places

• We are prioritising the development of a framework for the management of LA SRB 
provisions, which ensures a consistent, equitable approach across all settings in 
terms of the learning environment, staffing structure, curriculum offer, Inclusion 
opportunities and funding formula. 

Risks include: 

• The increased demand for specialist provision places.  Robust data analysis 
(particularly around Early Years pupils) is being developed to support the forecasting 
of complex ALN needs to help inform provision required to meet need.

• High costs associated with ALN transport particularly to out of county provisions 

• Ensuring the quality of ALN provision in SRBs that is consistent across the LA. Failure 
to ensure that specialist provision is of high quality and that the offer is equitable 
across all SRBs, could lead to a high level of challenge from parent and potentially 
lead to children being transported to settings outside their community. 

P
age 98



Inclusion – Educational Psychology
(EP) Service
The ongoing close collaboration between the EPS and ALN, has 
allowed the EPS to work preventatively and creatively, and as such 
MCC has lower statutory work demands.

The EPS provide a good level of direct support to our schools, with all 
schools having a named School Link EP.  

Additional capacity is provided into our larger secondary schools or 
schools in need of additional support, to allow for a greater focus on 
systemic work. 

The EPS continues to develop skills and tools with regards to 
complex case work, which is an increasing area of our work –
examples of innovative practice in this area would include the use of 
Therapeutic Assessment, Video Interaction Guidance (VIG) and 
Positive Behaviour Support (PBS).

The EPS has developed a more flexible and responsive model of 
service delivery, to complement and be responsive to changes in ALN 
reform and subsequent role of EP in Wales. 

The reputation of the MCC EPS has allowed it to maintain staffing 
levels in spite of the national shortage of EPs. 

Early Years EP Support

An embedded Early Years ALN system provides a more consistent multi-agency approach 

for preschool children with ALN, focusing on good transitions through the School Entry 

Planning process to enable children to have the best start on entering full time school. 

Feedback from parents and professionals about consultations and the School Entry 

Planning process is very positive.  For example; 

• from a member of staff : “very helpful indeed, exactly what I was looking for”. 

• from parents : “I felt like my thoughts and ideas on how to help my child in school 

were taken on board”/”extremely helpful”/”extremely reassuring”. 

• From ALNCOs: “Great transition into Reception”/ “All steps were achievable and 

appropriate”.

Almost all of the children involved with the EY EP/ ALN service have significant and 

complex needs.  Between 2020 and 2022:

• 68 have successfully entered mainstream Reception with support

• 17 have begun attending SRBs

• 3 children have been provided with a school place outside of Monmouthshire 

P
age 99



Inclusion – Pupil Referral Service (PRS)

The Pupil Referral Service: 

• teaches MCC pupils who have been permanently excluded, 

• provides intervention support for pupils at risk of exclusion within their own 
school (Dalen Newydd/ In-Reach), and 

• teaches pupils at home if they are too ill to attend school Education Other 
Than At School (EOTAS).

Three times more pupils require PRS support in 2022-23 (c. 150) than in 2020-21 
(c. 50).  

Pupils experiencing poor emotional and mental health/ anxiety are the group 
growing fastest. 

Almost all pupils supported by the PRS receive interventions from more than one 
Early Help agency.  

Around half of the pupils have been or are placed on the Child Protection Register.  

Around half of the pupils have identified ALN and many have autism. 

2020-21 2021-22

Pupils who returned to School having completed interventions 
with PRS

11 10

EOTAS Medical pupils returned to their own schools 3 3

EOTAS Medical pupils returned to schools in other LAs 4 2

Pupils moved from PRS to suitable Specialist Provision 2

Pupils completed in-reach interventions & returned to 
mainstream fulltime

2 5

Y11 leavers gained 5 recognised qualifications at level 1 and 2 Most Most

Y11 leavers secured transition to education, employment or 
training

All but 1 All but 3

P
age 100



Inclusion – EOTAS

The PRS has been supported to expand provision and is currently preparing to 
move into two new, high-quality learning places that match the changing 
demands of Curriculum for Wales and provide more capacity.  

Innovation that arose during the pandemic has made a lasting improvement to 
our teaching across the service.  

EOTAS (Education Other Than At School) Medical pupils for example: 

• Access teaching in small groups experienced subject specialists through live 
digital lessons.  Most return to making progress in the literacy, numeracy and 
digital skills.  Outcomes continue to improve each year.  

• Person centred practice (PCP) is enhanced by the Health and Wellbeing work 
carried out by Pupil Engagement Officers, that safeguards and leads to the 
return to school or successful transition to Post-16.

• To combat social exclusion/isolation the small group Health and Wellbeing 
pilot 2022-23 was developed to encourage social successes with peers in a 
safe and supported/ supportive environment. 

The EOTAS Bespoke pilot developed from improved collaboration between the 
PRS and ALN to meet the need of those with the most complex needs. These 
CYP typically have ALN, have been unsuccessful in specialist provisions, have 
experienced the multiple ACEs (i.e. significant issues around attendance, 
engagement, exclusions, behaviours of concern/ challenge) and are often also 
Children Looked After (CLA). 

• The pupils require sensitive and person-centred packages of educational 
opportunities that are tailored and responsive to their individual needs.  We 
will be looking closely at the impact and outcomes of this work towards the 
end of this academic year.

RISKS

• A growth in pupils referred to PRS is costly and will require a funding model 
to meet the needs in terms of increased staffing/budget for PRS.

• The current learning environments of the two PRUs are not conducive to the 
new Curriculum for Wales and do not allow for continued growth. 

• Attendance in line with PRUs.

• The overuse of reduced timetable policy by Schools for the Dalen Newydd 
cohort. 

P
age 101



Inclusion- Support

MoSTS (Monmouthshire Specialist Teaching Service) aims to improve outcomes 

for children and young people with literacy difficulties.  

Leadership for this team was moved to the EPS in Autumn 2021 and 

subsequently an equitable model for MoSTS delivery to schools was developed 

and implemented, which complements the changes within the ALN reform. 

Literacy Practice Guidance for Schools and online Q&A/Consultation sessions 

formed a key part of the offer to all schools.

Literacy Junction is a targeted literacy intervention, trialled by primary settings 

across the region. In March 2022, funding was made available to roll out Literacy 

Junction across MCC.  

The MoSTS Team deliver Literacy Junction Intervention to pupils and are 

beginning to roll out the Literacy Junction Training and support to all primary 

schools. 

The MoSTS is having a positive impact working with schools and in particular in 

building the skills of TAs to meet the needs of CYP with literacy difficulties, as 

well as ensuring strong universal provision.  

Direct Intervention from MoSTS tutors is well received and felt by school staff to 

be having a positive impact. 

The Education Support Team (EST) is a newly created team, who work in partnership with 
schools and colleagues to enhance and promote the inclusion of children and young people 
in Monmouthshire schools. 

The focus is to support schools to meet the needs of primary aged children presenting with 
behaviours that challenge, including those with ALN, neurodevelopmental conditions, and 
those at risk of exclusion, and to support schools to meet the needs of CLA. 

Early feedback from schools has been positive. 

Since the new Vulnerable Learner Lead and the EST have been in place, more responsive, 
clear and detailed advice is available to schools on a range of issues including:

➢ Managing and reducing exclusions

➢ Risk assessments

➢ Pastoral Support Plans (PSPs)

➢ Use of reduced timetables and restrictive practices

➢ Supporting Children Looked After (CLA) and being ‘CLA Friendly and CLA Ready’

Risks include:

• The increase in exclusions including those of young children.

• Costs associated with the number of learners with complex and intertwined needs, who 
require a high level of support or ‘bespoke’ packages due to either exclusion from 
specialist provision or presentation that prevents them from accessing mainstream 
provision.

P
age 102



Inclusion – Healthy Schools Service

Relationships and Sexuality Education (RSE) 

RSE is statutory requirement and a cross cutting theme in the Curriculum for 
Wales. From September 2022 it is mandatory for all learners from ages 3 to 16.
All schools are offered support as they develop their RSE curriculum.

All secondary schools have engaged in sharing networks and accessed bespoke 
professional learning identified through listening to the CPD needs of teachers. 

All primary schools have been offered bespoke training for school staff, 
governors and support with family information workshops. To date 20 schools 
have accessed some level of support from the team and a further 6 have booked 
professional learning / workshops to take place. To date 135 school-based 
colleagues have provided feedback on the training. All responses are positive. 

This work also links with the period dignity agenda as part of curriculum 
development and availability of sanitary products. All secondary schools have 
accessed professional learning and workshops for young people are taking place 
during the summer term. 

In conjunction with supporting schools to develop their RSE curriculum, schools 
have been offered professional learning on Managing Sexual Behaviours. 28 
schools accessed this training and feedback was positive and as a result further 
training will be made available this year.  

Implementation of the Whole School Approach to Emotional and Mental Wellbeing 

Our MCC Healthy Settings Lead is also the regional WSA Implementation Lead, a post 
which is grant funded.  This has developed capacity locally to support schools with the 
implementation.

We currently have 15 schools (11 primary, 3 secondary & PRS) working with the team on 
the WSA to EMWB self - evaluation tool. This equates to 43% of schools in MCC. 

Levels of engagement varies but is generally good. Those schools that are more engaged 
and are working closely with the team; complete the self-evaluation tool quicker and 
identify their areas of development to inform SDP.

Activity from September 2023:

Sharing Sessions: have included: staff wellbeing, listening to learners and using your SHRN 
data.

Briefing sessions for new schools interested in using the self-evaluation tool. These focus 
on the sharing and learning from other schools in MCC. 

Network meetings: to share progress, good practice and problem solving. 

Further develop partnership working with the EAS, Cynefin and Mental Health In-Reach to 
Schools

Risks include: 

• Healthy Settings team is 100% grant funded. This is year on year funding.

• The self-evaluation tool is a non-statutory document to support the implementation of 
the statutory framework as a result it may be difficult to engage all schools in this work 
programme by March 2025.

P
age 103



Developing our School 
Estate and planning for the 
future
Developing our Sustainable Communities for Learning

P
age 104



Development of our schools

There is a significant amount of work underway at the moment 
developing our education estate. This faces significant challenges in the 
escalating costs due to inflationary pressures.

King Henry VIII School – Sustainable Communities for Learning

• Replacement of King Henry VIII and Deri View Schools with a through 
school

Ysgol Y Fenni

• Repurpose Deri View Primary School for Ysgol Y Fenni to enhance and 
increase Welsh medium education in the Abergavenny area

Monmouth WM seedling school

• Create a seedling school within Overmonnow Primary School in 
September 2024 (subject to Statutory Consultation ) and provide 
Welsh medium education within the Monmouth area.

Nurseries

• Establishment of two additional non-maintained nurseries at Trellech
Primary School and Archbishop Rowan Williams Primary School

Castle Park

• Refurbish and remodel existing accommodation and install two lifts 
ensuring the school is completely DDA compliant.

Chepstow

• Cluster review underway to establish the most appropriate way to 
develop education in the Chepstow area. The review will look at all 
education aspects as well as the education estate in the area.

Capital Maintenance

• Work is underway to redevelop and relocate the PRS in both the north 
and south of the County.

• Replace toilets at Shirenewton Primary School

• Replace floors in demountable classrooms at The Dell Primary School 

Collation of school condition surveys

• Condition Surveys were undertake of the School estate in 2019. The 
Council primary stock comprises of 19 Schools in category C, 7 in 
category B and 4 Category A. The secondary stock is 1 in category D, 1 
in category C and 2 in category A.

P
age 105



School Places and Planning for the 
future – The Challenge
Since 2017, we have had a focus on the way in which pupils in 
Monmouthshire transition from primary to secondary school. 
We recognised a risk that more Monmouthshire pupils leave 
MCC schools at the end of KS2 than any other authority in 
Wales. In part this is due to two towns having neighbouring 
schools which have been popular in the past.

In the last transition period:

• 19.75% (178 pupils) move to an out of county school.

• 11.3% (92 pupils) come from an out of county school.

Addressing this is important for the Authority as we want to 
secure effective curriculum transition for our learners, and we 
want to ensure that our communities value and choose our 
schools. The developments in practice and the quality of the 
asset base will help promote this.

Surplus Places are another key consideration for the school planning 
team. We work closely with colleagues in the planning team to ensure 
that we are prepared for the potential changes associated with any new 
Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP) and these are reflected in 
our planning.

• Abergavenny 12.77% (3 over 15%)

• Chepstow 26.7% (1 over 15% and 2 over 25%)

• Caldicot 11.45% (2 over 25%)

• Monmouth 9.2% (3 over 15% and 2 over 25%)

It is important that we recognise that these levels of surplus places 

require further consideration and potentially action.  The School 

Organisation Code says:

Where there are more than 10% surplus places in an area overall, 

local authorities should review their provision and should consider 

whether to make proposals for their removal if this will improve the 

effectiveness and efficiency of provision. A significant level of surplus 

provision is defined as 25% or more of a school’s capacity (as defined 

in Circular 21/2011) and at least 30 unfilled places

P
age 106



School Places and Planning for the 
future – What are we doing?
The Authority undertook a large-scale secondary catchment 
review in 2021 which introduced Monmouthshire feeder 
schools. A full Primary Catchment review will be undertaken 
in autumn term 2023.

Whilst there is no Welsh Medium secondary education in 
Monmouthshire this can inhibit parents’ choices for taking 
Welsh medium education at primary phase. We are working 
with our neighbouring authorities to develop plans for another 
Welsh Medium Secondary school in the area to compliment 
Gwent Is Coed and Ysgol Gwynllyw.

In it anticipated that the development of the new King Henry VIII 
All Age School in Abergavenny will reduce the number of pupils 
attending an out of county secondary school.

All secondary schools have strong transition plans for primary 
pupils and are working collectively to embed cluster curriculum 
plans.

94.7% primary / 95.8% secondary admissions get 1st choice 
places.

There remains pressure in Caldicot town for school places and 
we are using appropriate s106 funding to increase capacity. It 
should be noted that the consultation that was taken forward 
for Caldicot in 2020 was set aside to test alternative 
proposals. Since that decision the expected growth in pupil 
numbers has not materialised to the expected extent and the 
current considerations are using this more accurate data.

We are currently moving to the second stage of consulting 
on establishing a new seedling Welsh Medium primary school 
in Monmouth (the publication of statutory notices). This will 
further increase surplus places in Monmouth.

Ysgol Y Fenni move to Deri View Site will increase capacity by 90 
places. This is beyond their existing surplus places of 63.

We are currently reviewing Chepstow and its environs, our 
smallest cluster, to reduce surplus places, proposals will be 
shared and discussed with members in the Autumn term.

P
age 107



Finances and sustainability –
The Challenge
At the end of the financial year 2021-22 Monmouthshire's’ schools had a 
collective surplus balance of £6.9m, there was one school in a deficit. At the end 
of 2022-23 the surplus balance had reduced to £4.2m with five schools in 
deficit. Of these five, schools four have relatively small deficits and one has a 
large deficit. The balances at the end of the last year are higher than expected 
but balances are reducing.

It is important that we recognise that there are pressures on schools and the 
corporate settlement is putting pressure on school balances. For the current 
financial year, the Individual School Budget reduced by 2.8% (£1,450k) to help 
balance the broader budget.

Teacher's pay award is adding to school budget pressures. In 2022/23 we met 
the cost of 3% of the 5% original teachers’ pay award (for the period September 
2022 to March 2023). We do not know the teachers’ pay award when we set 
our budget in March (the award was agreed eight months later in November 
2022) instead we model and expected pay award and the 3% was the predicted 
level.

Given the hugely challenging financial year that has just passed there was not 
the headroom corporately to meet the additional 2% (7/12), so schools met this 
from their reserve position.

In the negotiations associated with the NEU and NAHT’s pay claims and 
industrial action the Welsh Government agreed to fund a further 3% for the last 
financial year (1.5% was to be consolidated and 1.5% unconsolidated). The full 
grant from WG to afford the extra 3% teachers received was passed on in full.

This year’s budget includes the 5/12 of 5% pay award (fully funded).

Beyond the pay awards there are further pressures in the 
system. Pupils being identified with ALN at an earlier age can 
add pressure to school budgets. The authority delegates all of its 
additional funding for ALN directly to schools. We believe that they have 
the expertise to best utilise this resource close to the needs of 
learners. Where schools identify needs in excess of the allocated sums 
this can bring pressure to budgets.

With a further challenging settlement expected in the coming year there 
is the recurrent risk that the ISB will need to reduce further.

The other significant cost driver for CYP at the moment is related to 
transport costs associated with those children with additional learning 
needs. These costs have escalated significantly, driven by increased fuel 
costs and more specialised staff and escorts being required.

We are working closely with colleagues in the Passenger Transport Unit to 
manage a re-tendering exercise carefully and sympathetically for this 
population recognising that we need to reduce cost as far as we possibly 
can but balance the need for some of our learners to have consistency 
and reliability in their daily routines.

P
age 108



Finances and sustainability –
What are we doing?
In order to manage the financial situation, we provide support and challenge to 
schools through our budget monitoring process. Insofar as we are able, we 
provide schools with a 3-year budget projection to allow them to plan into the 
medium term. ALN funding was delegated in April 2022 allowing schools to plan 
spend over a longer period of time.

Where schools do fall into a deficit there are recovery plans and these are 
agreed by the Cabinet Members for education and resources. In some 
circumstances schools are able to apply for a Local Authority loan to help 
manage the deficit in a longer term framework. This removes the pressure of 
radical and short term cost reduction, these are often associated with staffing 
reductions.

We are currently working with school leaders to review the ALN formula to 
identify any potential issues. The emergent findings suggest that we should 
adjust the treatment of managing the funds that we receive from other local 
authorities, often known as recoupment.

During the pandemic schools received significant grant funding from Welsh 
Government. This has supported learners in the aftermath of changed learning 
but we need to recognise that it will not be there into the future and schools 
should not plan for its continuation.

We have developed a comprehensive five-year ALN forecasting model to 
identify pressures for future placements and this allows us to predict future 
costs and budget pressures more effectively.

Alongside our work to support revenue funding in school we have also used 
available capital grants to enhance and develop facilities. We have supported 
schools across the county to prepare for the roll out of the Universal free School 
meal offer. We have also invested in schools where there were specific 
needs. Our most significant investment has been in Chepstow School where we 
have invested in excess of £1m to improve the building and the learning 
environments. Staff and pupils have valued this investment.

We have also been able to use the Community Focused Schools grant to improve 
community access to schools across the county and to promote initiatives such 
as community fridges and uniform swap shops.

The finance team work closely with schools and colleagues in the EAS to advise 
schools on grant expenditure and management.

P
age 109



Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP)
We are coming to the end of the first year of our ten- year WESP. During the last year we submitted a 

five-year plan to Welsh Ministers outlining our detailed targets for the year.  Despite the short 

timescale, progress has been made in many areas. However, progress in other areas is limited and in 

a few, work is to commence later in the year.

P
age 110



Key achievements:

Outcome 1: More nursery children/three-year-olds receive their education through the medium of Welsh

• The WEF Promotion Working Group is established. The group has convened to promote the benefits of a bilingual education to support the 

admission process for the two existing Welsh medium schools and applications to the seedling school in September 2024..

• New materials have been developed to promote the benefits of a bilingual education and promote Welsh language groups and classes and 

opportunities for a career in Welsh-medium childcare. The MCC website has been up-dated to include videos that promote WM education, all 

existing promotional material has been updated and the group are working on creating new.

Outcome 2: More reception class children/five-year-olds receive their education through the medium of Welsh

• The refurbishment of Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin to increase the capacity of the school to 210 places from Reception to year 6 is complete.

• We secured additional WG funding for three years to continue the Immersion class in Y Ffin and extend this provision in other areas of the county.

Outcome 3: More children continue to improve their Welsh language skills when transferring from one stage of their statutory education to another; 

and Outcome 4 More learners' study for assessed qualifications in Welsh (as a subject) and subjects through the medium of Welsh

• Initial contact has been made with the e-sgol platform following the role out of the platform by Welsh Government across Wales. Schools are 

including the benefits of being bilingual within their career’s curriculum and pathways publications

• Preliminary discussions have taken place with MCC Early Years and Finance Managers on Welsh Government funded qualification routes within the 

Child Care Sector. Both aspects form part of the MCC Post 16 Review to be formally launched with all stakeholders in March.

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP)

P
age 111



Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP)
Outcome 5: More opportunities for learners to use Welsh in different contexts in school

• The Outcome 5 group has convened and work on mapping current provision will be underway before the end pf the academic year.

• School-based activities focusing on the use of Welsh in a range of contexts are being shared on social media platforms.

Outcome 6: An increase in the provision of Welsh-medium education for pupils with additional learning needs (ALN) in accordance with the 
duties imposed by the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018

• ALN documentation for use in schools and settings, including online information, is available in Welsh

• Translation services where parents or pupils request advice, support, or intervention through the medium of Welsh.

• Parents are informed of their right to access Welsh-medium childcare for the child with ALN.

• All ALN documentation for parents/carers, including online information, is available in Welsh.

Outcome 7: Increase the number of teaching staff able to teach Welsh (as a subject) and teach through the medium of Welsh

• We continue to work alongside the EAS to encourage school-based and setting staff to engage training to develop Welsh language 
skills. This includes participation in Cwrs Sabothol which is having a positive impact on Welsh language skills in our English medium schools.

• The EAS continue to provide high quality training and support to many of our schools, as well as continuing to provide professional learning 
on the pedagogical and methodological approaches to teaching Welsh to support language acquisition and immersion techniques.

• The local authority has launched a staff survey to determine the Welsh language skills of the workforce and is in the process of analysing
the information.

P
age 112



Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP)
Key priorities for next year

Outcome 1 More nursey children/three-year-olds receive their education through the medium of Welsh

• Strengthen the work of the promotion group to support the opening of the new seedling school in Monmouth

• Begin work to open a fourth Cylch Meithrin in Chepstow and to support Cylch Meithrin Trefynwy is not planned to commence 
until September 2023/24.

Outcome 2 More reception class children/five-year-olds receive their education through the medium of Welsh

• Open a seedling school and Cylch Meithrin in Monmouth town in September 2024

• Relocate Y Fenni to its new site in the autumn term 2024/25

Outcome 3 More children continue to improve their Welsh language skills when transferring from one stage of their 
statutory education to another and Outcome 4 More learners study for assessed qualifications in Welsh (as a subject) and 
subjects through the medium of Welsh

• Promotion group to support schools to promote the benefits of a bilingual education in future careers during the time when 
leaners are making choices about options, A levels and further educations pathways.

• Strengthen links with partner local authorities provide secondary education through the medium of Welsh for Monmouthshire 11-
19 learners.

• Begin work to establish baseline information to monitor linguistic progression and external examinations data for Monmouthshire 
pupils.

Outcome 5 More opportunities for learners to use Welsh in different contexts in school

• Complete provision map for all partners supporting the development of opportunities for using the Welsh language.

• Agree an action plan and key targets for all partners to close any gaps that result from the mapping exercise.

P
age 113



Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP)
Key priorities for next year

Outcome 6 An increase in the provision of Welsh-medium education for pupils with additional learning needs (ALN) in 
accordance with the duties imposed by the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018

• Finalise transition arrangements between primary and secondary phases in other local authorities to ensure that Welsh-medium 
ALN provision is appropriately maintained for Welsh-medium learners.

Outcome 7 Increase the number of teaching staff able to teach Welsh (as a subject) and teach through the medium of 
Welsh

• Analysis of data sources including staffing lists and pupil projections to understand the trends in demand for Welsh-medium 
teachers and project future needs as demand increases, particularly when our third Welsh-medium school opens in Monmouth.

• Develop opportunities through joint working between Initial Teacher Training and Education (ITET) providers, the regional 
consortia and other work-based learning providers to recruit suitably experienced and qualified staff.

• Work with key partners to develop the skills of our school workforce in line with the Welsh Language Competence Framework.

• Consider staff incentives to learn or improve Welsh language skills at all levels to improve the Welsh Language across the 
organisation.

Key Risks

• The funding to support the development of a seedling school in Overmonnow will not be received or reduced.

• Work to establish the seedling school and Cylch Meithrin in Monmouth is not completed in time to open fully from September 
2024.

• There will not be enough qualified teachers and teaching assistants to staff the new school and the increased numbers in Y 
Fenni and Y Ffin.

P
age 114



Conclusions

P
age 115



Conclusions
When I started to draft this report, I envisaged a succinct report that 
highlighted the progress we have made in the last period, I am very 
conscious that whatever this report maybe it is not succinct!

However, as I discussed with my colleagues the opportunity to share their 
areas of responsibility and the breadth of their work with Council was too 
great to be missed. I would hasten to add, that the areas that are covered 
in the report represent a small element of the work that is undertaken by 
schools and the CYP Directorate.

I hope that the report provides members with an overview of the services 
provided, their aims and objectives. This will be significantly enhanced by 
the agreed objectives of the Community and Corporate Plan which will 
allow us to strengthen the ‘golden thread’.

It is stated throughout the report that education in Monmouthshire is 
proceeding through a challenging period, and this is clearly having an 
impact on the services that we offer and the way in which our schools 
operate.

The Children and Young People’s Directorate is a small team of only 
seventy-eight people (the biggest element of which are 23 members of 
staff in Flying Start which is a shared grant funded service). Inevitably this 
team’s ability to support and provide professional challenge to the thirty-
five schools and 25 non-maintained setting is a perpetual challenge, but 
this paper illustrates the breadth of services and the impact that this team 
has.

I have not been able to offer the same level of commentary (or assurance) 
as to the progress of our schools simply because our ability (and that of 
the EAS) to see first-hand evidence has been restricted by the pandemic 
and more recently by the action short of strike. This has meant that we 
have been reliant upon Estyn inspections to provide evidence of the 
standards in our schools. However, the feedback from the eleven 
inspections across Monmouthshire since their return in 2022 shows a 
developing picture of strengths in our provision.

In the extremely challenging environment that everyone is working in, our 
school leaders are faced with a range of challenges that are both different 
and intensified since the pandemic. We have sought to strengthen our 
team to provide support to our learners and our schools.

As we look back, I believe that we have made good progress against our 
ambitions of the last year. It is harder to form a view against our Estyn 
recommendations due to their areas of focus: progression of FSM learners 
and excellent standards requiring more extensive access to schools to 
understand and evidence their progress.

Some development courses refer to: Volatility; Uncertainty; Complexity 
and Ambiguity (VUCA). This seems apt for the education system 
currently. The challenges of reforms, funding, staff turnover and 
increased expectations all contribute to this.

P
age 116



Conclusions
I should also set out the risks to our ability to deliver for the Council. These are 
apparent in a number of different areas, but I think they can be consolidated into four 
main areas.

Firstly, there is a risk that our schooling system to struggles to adjust to the new 
patterns of need amongst our children and young people in the post pandemic 
period. The behaviour changes we have seen in schools, the changes in pupils’ and 
staffs’ expectations are all traced back to the pandemic. We have also seen an increase 
in levels of acute anxiety in our student population at all ages. If our children and young 
people do not feel able to attend school, we cannot provide the support and care that 
our schools and support services do with such compassion and expertise.

Secondly, the reform agenda is placing a significant burden on our schools. The 
rationale for change has been well made at a national level and, locally, the system, I 
believe, agrees with its direction, but the scale and the breadth of reform and change 
places a weight of expectation on a system coming to terms with a different (if not 
‘new’) reality. Our ability to support schools with our partners is challenging. We are a 
small team and our capacity and that of our partners is stretched.

Thirdly, the current industrial action being undertaken by the NAHT presents a risk to 
our ability to deliver the aspirations of the Council. The union’s action short of strike is 
designed to ‘frustrate’ the system. As a result, my ability to engage fully on a range of 
initiatives with my colleagues in the primary sector has been constrained since 1st

February 2023.

Fourthly, and finally, I have to recognise the resource pressures that exist in the 
system. For some schools, their reserve positions look healthy and the year end 2023 
was better than predicted. But there is perilously short coverage within this reserve 
position given the pressures in the system and I anticipate this being eroded 
significantly in the next year. We have also seen the impact of resource constraint on 
collaborative endeavours such as the EAS and Sencom, the regional sensory support 
service.

The resource pressure is not limited to financial resources, we are seeing staff leave 
their professions in patterns we have not seen previously. Be it Head Teachers choosing 
early retirement, teachers not moving through the profession as we may have expected 
or teaching support assistants seeking better paid employment in other settings such as 
retail.

The directorate, working with its partners, seeks to provide consistency and support for 
our schools. At times this may be challenging for both the central services and the 
schools. I do not underestimate the potential tension between the funder and the 
recipient, my need for assurance and schools’ desire for space for creativity, or our 
advocation for individual pupils and schools’ need to support whole classes and 
cohorts. These are the natural strains that exist in a highly decentralised system.

However, we have seen in the past that Monmouthshire has been adept at responding 
to its challenges and I believe that we will do so again.

The changes that we have made to strengthen our services place us in a stronger 
position than we were previously, and we are able to provide broader and more 
informed support to our schools. As we move into the next academic year, I believe 
that with focused work, structured to achieve the aspirations of the Corporate & 
Community Plan, while maintaining our focus on the Estyn recommendations, will see 
us establish Monmouthshire as one of the foremost education systems in Wales.

This is the report of your Chief Officer, I have provided it to give you a sense of the 
service and system I work with and within. I hope that it gives you, as the elected 
members, an assurance that the system is working hard to support Monmouthshire’s 
learners achieve their potential, and that we are committed to becoming the very best 
that we can be to support our children and young people.

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Chair's Announcement
	5 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18th May 2023
	Minutes

	6 GWENT PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD: WELL-BEING PLAN
	Gwent PSB Well-being Plan

	7 CHIEF OFFICER CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ANNUAL REPORT
	Slide 1: Chief Officer: Children and Young People
	Slide 2: Contents
	Slide 3: Purpose 
	Slide 4: Introduction
	Slide 5: The Education System in Monmouthshire
	Slide 6: The shape of our place
	Slide 7: The shape of our place: Age and Gender
	Slide 8: The shape of our place: ALN needs
	Slide 9: The shape of our place: eFSM and Gender
	Slide 10: The Shape of the Team
	Slide 11: The Shape of the Team
	Slide 12: The Shape of the Team
	Slide 13: A moving & evolving system
	Slide 14: The local frame for our work
	Slide 15: The broader context we are working in
	Slide 16: The broader context we are working in
	Slide 17: The reform agenda
	Slide 18: Our National Mission
	Slide 19: How we observe the system
	Slide 20: Changes to accountability
	Slide 21: How we observe the system
	Slide 22: How did we do last year?
	Slide 23: Our Estyn Recommendations
	Slide 24: Our Estyn Recommendations
	Slide 25: Our Estyn Recommendations
	Slide 26: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 27: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 28: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 29: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 30: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 31: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 32: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 33: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 34: Last Year’s Ambitions
	Slide 35: Our Provision
	Slide 36: Early Years Provision
	Slide 37: Flying Start 
	Slide 38: Estyn Early Years Outcomes
	Slide 39: Our Schools 
	Slide 40: Estyn quantifiers and what they mean
	Slide 41: Estyn Inspection Outcomes
	Slide 42: Estyn Inspection Outcomes
	Slide 43: Estyn Inspection Outcomes
	Slide 44: Estyn Inspection Outcomes
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47: Supporting Disadvantaged Learners
	Slide 48: Supporting Disadvantaged learners
	Slide 49: Disadvantaged learners
	Slide 50: Disadvantaged learners
	Slide 51: Community Focused Schools
	Slide 52: Community Focused Schools
	Slide 53: Community Focused Schools and  disadvantaged learners
	Slide 54: Community Focused Schools and  disadvantaged learners 
	Slide 55: Disadvantaged learners –  EAS focused supported self-evaluation
	Slide 56: Disadvantaged learners -  EAS focused supported self-evaluation
	Slide 57: Developing an Inclusive Educational Service
	Slide 58: Inclusion
	Slide 59: Inclusion: ALN Implementation
	Slide 60: Inclusion – ALN Specialist Provision
	Slide 61: Inclusion – Educational Psychology (EP) Service
	Slide 62: Inclusion – Pupil Referral Service (PRS)
	Slide 63: Inclusion – EOTAS
	Slide 64: Inclusion- Support
	Slide 65: Inclusion – Healthy Schools Service
	Slide 66: Developing our School Estate and planning for the future
	Slide 67: Development of our schools
	Slide 68: School Places and Planning for the future – The Challenge 
	Slide 69: School Places and Planning for the future – What are we doing?  
	Slide 70: Finances and sustainability –  The Challenge
	Slide 71: Finances and sustainability –  What are we doing?
	Slide 72: Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)
	Slide 73: Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)
	Slide 74: Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)
	Slide 75: Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)
	Slide 76: Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)
	Slide 77: Conclusions
	Slide 78: Conclusions
	Slide 79: Conclusions


